

# Open Access Repository

# A fistful of Euros: does One-Euro-Job participation lead means-tested benefit recipients into regular jobs and out of unemployment benefit II receipt?

Hohmeyer, Katrin; Wolff, Joachim

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Arbeitspapier / working paper

Zur Verfügung gestellt in Kooperation mit / provided in cooperation with:

SSG Sozialwissenschaften, USB Köln

#### Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:

Hohmeyer, K., & Wolff, J. (2007). *A fistful of Euros: does One-Euro-Job participation lead means-tested benefit recipients into regular jobs and out of unemployment benefit II receipt?* (IAB Discussion Paper: Beiträge zum wissenschaftlichen Dialog aus dem Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung, 32/2007). Nürnberg: Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung.org/urn:nbn:de:0168ssoar-320358

#### Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer Deposit-Lizenz (Keine Weiterverbreitung - keine Bearbeitung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Gewährt wird ein nicht exklusives, nicht übertragbares, persönliches und beschränktes Recht auf Nutzung dieses Dokuments. Dieses Dokument ist ausschließlich für den persönlichen, nicht-kommerziellen Gebrauch bestimmt. Auf sämtlichen Kopien dieses Dokuments müssen alle Urheberrechtshinweise und sonstigen Hinweise auf gesetzlichen Schutz beibehalten werden. Sie dürfen dieses Dokument nicht in irgendeiner Weise abändern, noch dürfen Sie dieses Dokument für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, aufführen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Mit der Verwendung dieses Dokuments erkennen Sie die Nutzungsbedingungen an.



#### Terms of use:

This document is made available under Deposit Licence (No Redistribution - no modifications). We grant a non-exclusive, nontransferable, individual and limited right to using this document. This document is solely intended for your personal, noncommercial use. All of the copies of this documents must retain all copyright information and other information regarding legal protection. You are not allowed to alter this document in any way, to copy it for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the document in public, to perform, distribute or otherwise use the document in public.

By using this particular document, you accept the above-stated conditions of use.





Beiträge zum wissenschaftlichen Dialog aus dem Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung

No. 32/2007

# A fistful of Euros

# Does One-Euro-Job participation lead means-tested benefit recipients into regular jobs and out of unemployment benefit II receipt?

Katrin Hohmeyer, Joachim Wolff

# A fistful of Euros

## Does One-Euro-Job participation lead means-tested benefit recipients into regular jobs and out of unemployment benefit II receipt?

Katrin Hohmeyer and Joachim Wolff (IAB)

Auch mit seiner neuen Reihe "IAB-Discussion Paper" will das Forschungsinstitut der Bundesagentur für Arbeit den Dialog mit der externen Wissenschaft intensivieren. Durch die rasche Verbreitung von Forschungsergebnissen über das Internet soll noch vor Drucklegung Kritik angeregt und Qualität gesichert werden.

Also with its new series "IAB Discussion Paper" the research institute of the German Federal Employment Agency wants to intensify dialogue with external science. By the rapid spreading of research results via Internet still before printing criticism shall be stimulated and quality shall be ensured.

#### Contents

Abs	stract	. 4
1	Introduction	. 5
2	Institutional framework and target groups of One-Euro-Jobs	. 7
3	Literature Review	. 9
4	Theoretical Background and Hypotheses	11
5 5.1 5.2	Methods and Data Methods Data	14 14 16
6 6.1	Results: Average treatment effects on the treated of One-Euro-Jobs. Implementation	18 18
6.2 6.3	Overall effects	19 21
6.4	Effects by Age	23
6.5	Effects by Nationality	25
6.6	Effects by occupational qualification	25
6.7	Effects by regional unemployment rate	26
6.8	Effects by time since last employment	26
7	Summary and Conclusions	27
Ref	erences	29
Tab	bles and figures	32

#### Abstract

In 2005 a major reform of the German means-tested unemployment benefit system came into force. The reform aimed at activating benefit recipients, e.g., by a workfare programme, the so-called One-Euro-Job. This programme was implemented at a large scale. Participants receive their means-tested benefit and a small compensation of usually one to 1.5 € per hour worked. Participation typically lasts six months or less. We investigate the impact of One-Euro-Jobs for participants who entered the programme at the start of the year 2005. We apply propensity score matching to estimate the treatment effects on the outcomes regular employment, neither being registered as unemployed nor as job-seeker and no unemployment benefit II receipt. We observe these outcomes for about two years after programme start. The locking-in effects are small. Moreover, 20 months after programme there is a significant but small positive impact on the employment rate of female but not male participants. During the first two years after programme start, participation does not contribute to avoiding unemployment benefit II receipt. Our results imply that there is some effect heterogeneity: Participation reduces the employment rate of participants younger than 25 years, but raises it for some older participant groups. It is ineffective for participants who were recently employed, while it is effective for participants who lost their last contributory job between 1992 and 2000.

#### JEL classification: C13, H43, J68

**Keywords:** Propensity score matching, evaluation of active labour market policy, workfare, means-tested benefit recipients

## **1** Introduction

Due to high and persistent unemployment reforms of German labour market policy in the last years concentrated to a large extent on activation policies for unemployed persons.<sup>1</sup> One of the reforms was implemented with the introduction of the Social Code II. A new means-tested benefit, the unemployment benefit II (UB II), was introduced at the start of the year 2005. It replaced the two former means-tested benefits, unemployment assistance and social benefit, for employable persons in needy households. The Social Code II in contrast to the former system emphasises activation policies. One of these policies is a workfare programme, which was implemented at a large scale: The work opportunity programme in which participants receive their unemployment benefit II and additionally one to two Euros per hour worked - the so called One-Euro-Job.<sup>2</sup> In this paper we evaluate whether participation in the One-Euro-Job scheme improves the labour market performance of participants.

One-Euro-Jobs are subordinate to regular employment, vocational training and other active labour market programmes. The jobs have to be of public interest and additional in the sense that they would not be carried out without the subsidy. In so far they are similar to traditional job creation schemes. Yet, while in the latter type of programme participants receive a wage, participants in One-Euro-Jobs receive their UB II and as already mentioned additionally a small compensation for their working-time. The basic goal of One-Euro-Jobs is to activate those UB II recipients who have particular difficulties in finding a job. Nevertheless, UB II agencies can rely on the programme as a work-test. After the introduction of the Social Code II the programme became the most important active labour market policy in Germany in terms of the number of persons entering the programme in the year 2005 and even more than 700,000 in the year 2006. Compared to the stock of unemployed recipients of UB II of roughly two and a half million in those years the size of the inflow is very high.

To our knowledge there is no study on the impact of participation in the One-Euro-Job programme on the labour market performance of participants. Quantifying such effects is particularly important from a policy point of view, since the programme attempts to improve the employability of people whose job-finding perspectives are among the worst. It is also of much interest from a more general point of view, as we can determine how workfare influences different types of participants: Given the large scale of the programme, we can estimate treat-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A comprehensive description of recent institutional changes of German labour market policy can be found in Jacobi and Kluve (2007). These reforms are well known in Germany as the Hartz reforms, as many of them were proposed by a commission that was led by Peter Hartz, head of the personnel executive committee of Volkswagen.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Similar measures existed under the old social assistance regime: the Help Towards Work (Hilfe zur Arbeit) programme created work opportunities to integrate social assistance recipients into work and in order to test their willingness to work. Municipalities organised the programme independently and without any central coordination, such that their implementation at the local level came in a wide variety of forms (Voges et al. 2001). An evaluation of the effectiveness of these programmes was not carried out, due to the lack of micro data. For a description of the Help Towards Work programme see for example Voges et al. (2001).

ment effects on the treated separately for many different groups of participants who entered the programme over a very short period of time.

In contrast to most evaluation studies that estimate programme effects with administrative data, we can incorporate considerable information on the household of programme participants and control individuals. The introduction of the Social Code II also implemented a new data collection system which makes unemployment benefit II agencies collect information on all members of needy households. In turn any member of an unemployment benefit II recipient household can be tracked over time and the administrative data of partners or other household members on employment, unemployment, active labour market programme participation, benefit receipt from other administrative data sources can be retrieved for our analysis. With this data set-up many research questions in the context of poor households can be addressed using the entire population of households with means-tested benefit receipt and not just small samples.

Our study estimates the effect of programme participation using matching methods. The effects are estimated for the entire inflow into the One-Euro-Job programme during the months February to April 2005. We only regard programme participants if they were unemployed on 31st January 2005 and received UB II at that time. The potential control group members stem from a 20 percent random sample of needy persons in the unemployment stock at the end of January 2005. Of course we excluded all people from the unemployment stock, who started a One-Euro-Job from February to April 2005. However, controls may enter this programme at later points in time. Hence, we estimate the effect of joining the programme in this time period.

We are concerned with effects of programme participation on the regular employment rate, on whether the participants are neither registered as unemployed nor job-seeking and on the rate of no UB II receipt. The effects are generally estimated separately for men and women in East and in West Germany, given the different labour market situation of the two German regions. However, we also deal with effect heterogeneity according to age, nationality/migration status, occupational qualification, the regional unemployment rate, and time since last regular employment. This should first of all show for which groups the programme is most effective in its current set-up. It should also give some insights on why and when the policy achieves or fails to achieve (some of) its goals: E.g., the programme may improve employability of the participants, though not sufficiently to lead to an immediate success in terms of an increased employment rate. However, in a low unemployment region the improvement of employability is more likely to also affect the regular employment rate than in a region with high unemployment.

The paper is structured as follows: Section two describes the institutional set-up of the new unemployment benefit II and of the related One-Euro-Job programme. In section three, we provide a short literature review on the effects of workfare programmes and public employment schemes. Section four discusses a theoretical background for our analysis together with some key hypotheses of our study. The methods and data are described in section five. We discuss the results of our analysis in section six and briefly summarize and conclude in the final section seven.

## 2 Institutional framework and target groups of One-Euro-Jobs

With the introduction of the Social Code II at the start of the year 2005 major reforms of the German unemployment compensation system came into force (the so called "Hartz IV"-reforms). A new means-tested benefit system was introduced: The unemployment benefit II (UB II) replaced the former means-test unemployment assistance (UA) and social assistance (SA) for needy employable people.<sup>3,4</sup> The reform did not generally cut benefit levels for needy households.<sup>5</sup> The central idea behind introducing the Social Code II was to activate needy people, so that more of them are integrated into the labour market and their benefit dependency should be reduced. This is of particular importance for people who without the reform would have received SA benefit as well as for people who would have been partners or other household members of a UA benefit recipient. Without the reform such people would not necessarily have been in contact with labour agencies, registered as unemployed or as job-seekers nor would they have qualified for many types of active labour market policies. Due to the reform this has changed and each employable member of a needy household is supposed to contribute to reducing the dependency on the means-tested benefit.

On the one hand, the Social Code II demands efforts of unemployed persons with regard to job search and other activities to improve their chances of finding a job. Integration contracts and benefit sanctions for those who do not comply to the rules are instruments to raise such efforts. On the other hand, the reform provides more possibilities of assisting unemployed persons towards employment take-up and in particular led to more intensive active labour market policies.

One option of promoting and challenging unemployed persons is public employment such as work opportunities that have their legal basis in the Social Code II. Two types of work opportunities exist: (a) Work opportunities with wage ("Arbeitsgelegenheiten in der Entgeltvariante") and (b) work opportunities with an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The old unemployment insurance (UI) benefit was labelled as unemployment benefit I. It is earnings-related with a replacement rate of 67 percent for a parent and 60 percent for childless people. The UI benefit in contrast to UB II is time-limited, where the length of receipt increases with the time a recipient has contributed to unemployment insurance within a period of seven years prior to the benefit claim. The maximum duration of UI receipt though depends on age and was one year for those aged younger than 45 in the year 2005. It increased for older age groups and those older than 56 years could even receive their UI benefit up to 32 months. The maximum durations of those older than 44 years though were considerably reduced in the year 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> People who are aged between 15 and 64 and can work under the usual conditions of the labour market for at least three hours a day are regarded as employable. Only due to an illness or disability, it is possible not to fulfil this criterion (Article 8 Social Code II).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Blos and Rudolph (2005) showed in a simulation study based on micro data from an income and consumption survey how the benefit levels of former social benefit recipients and former unemployment assistance recipients were affected by the benefit reform. It did not much affect benefit levels of households of former social benefit recipients. However, about 17 percent of former unemployment assistance recipients no longer qualified for the new means-tested benefit. Of those former unemployment assistance households, which qualified for UB II, about 50 percent faced benefit reductions and 50 percent a benefit increase.

allowance to unemployment benefit II for additional expenses ("Arbeitsgelegenheiten in der Mehraufwandsvariante" or "One-Euro-Jobs"). More than 95% of the programme starts of work opportunities are One-Euro-Jobs, so that we regard this latter programme.

There are various goals of the One-Euro-Job programme (Federal Employment Agency 2005). They should raise the employability of long-term unemployed persons and enhance their chances of finding regular employment. Furthermore, they aim at the social integration of needy unemployed persons by providing them with a task and a daily routine. Moreover, they can be seen as a contribution to the provision of public goods by the needy people who have to work for their UB II receipt. Finally, One-Euro-Jobs are also a means of testing an unemployed person's willingness to work.

The tasks carried out in One-Euro-Jobs have to be of public utility and additional in the sense that they would not be completed without the subsidy. In the year 2005 most One-Euro-Job participations lasted up to six months (Hohmeyer et al. 2006). Additional expenses in One-Euro-Jobs average 1.25  $\in$  per hour worked (Wolff/Hohmeyer 2006). Regarding the average working time of One-Euro-Jobs of nearly 30 hours per week this adds up to about 145  $\in$  per month additional to UB II. UB II consists of a base benefit currently at 347  $\in$  per month for a single person<sup>6</sup> costs of accommodation and heating and an additional benefit for those who received within the last two years unemployment insurance (UI) benefit.<sup>7</sup>

One-Euro-Jobs are designed for employable needy persons aged between 15 and 64 years. They are subordinate to regular employment, vocational training and other active labour market programmes. Thus, they are a measure of last resort and persons with specific difficulties to find employment should be more likely to participate in One-Euro-Jobs than those with better chances of finding a job. This at least partly conflicts with the idea that the programme should serve as a work-test. Such a work-test is more likely to be effective for people with good job finding perspectives. Hence, it is not surprising that recent research describing the structure of participants (inflow) shows that One-Euro-Jobs are not targeted on specific groups of unemployed people, who are hard to place (Heinemann et al. 2006, Hohmeyer et al. 2006, Wolff/Hohmeyer 2006). This may either be due to cream skimming or to the use of One-Euro-Jobs as a work test.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> When the new system was introduced in the year 2005 this base benefit of 'unemployment benefit II' was lower 345 Euro for a lone adult or lone parent in West Germany and Berlin and 331 Euro in the five federal states in East Germany. It was raised to the Western level for UB II recipients in the East German federal states in July 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The additional benefit is related to the difference between the sum of the former UI and housing benefit receipt and the UB II benefit level. It amounts to two thirds of this difference in the first year after running out of UI receipt. However, there is an upper cap for the additional benefit of 160 € for singles and 320 € for partners. For each child that lives in the needy household of a person who is eligible for the additional benefit, the upper cap is raised by 60 €. In the second year after exhausting UI benefit receipt the additional benefit is cut by 50 percent.

## 3 Literature Review

As work opportunities have just been introduced in January 2005, no evaluation results are available for this specific programme in Germany. Nevertheless, it is worth discussing the lessons learned from the evaluation literature on similar programmes both in Germany and in other countries. Of course such evaluation results cannot be just transferred to our context as they have emerged for programmes that differed from work opportunities in several aspects, have taken place in a different context and for different groups of participants.

The German work opportunity programme resembles first, public employment programmes for unemployment benefit recipients and second, workfare programmes for social benefit recipients. One-Euro-Jobs are similar to both of them, as the two types of programmes are supposed to create jobs of public interest that do not compete with existing private sector jobs. But while public employment programmes mainly aim at integrating participants into the labour market, workfare programmes also imply that participants reciprocate for the benefit receipt. In turn for the benefit receipt which is financed by the society participants contribute to the provision of public goods.

#### **Evidence on Germany**

#### a) public employment programmes

Job creation schemes have already been introduced in Germany in 1969 with the job promotion law ("Arbeitsförderungsgesetz"). In 2000 job creation schemes were one of the most widely-used active labour market programmes. Just like One-Euro-Jobs job creation schemes have to be of public use and additional. In contrast to participants of One-Euro-Jobs persons working in a job creation scheme receive a wage. And of course the group of participants is different: Till the end of 2004 only those persons who received UI or UA benefit were eligible to participate in job creation schemes.

Recently, the effectiveness of the scheme for the participants has been studied intensively. Applying a statistical matching approach Caliendo, Hujer and Thomsen investigated in several non-experimental studies the impact of German job creation schemes on the labour market performance of participants who started their job creation scheme at the beginning of the year 2000 (Caliendo 2006; Caliendo et al. 2005a, b).<sup>8</sup> Positive effects of public employment programmes on the regular employment rate of participants can only be found for a few specific groups and only nearly three years after programme start (Caliendo et al. 2005a, b). For participants taken together and in the short run public employment programmes have a negative or zero impact on employment chances. Participation raises the employment rate of long-term unemployed people, highly qualified men with above average labour market prospects and West German women, in particularly those who are older than 50 years or long-term unemployed (Caliendo 2006). This beneficial effect though only emerges at about nearly three years after programme start. Participation is associated with high locking-in effects given that it lasts about one year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The authors estimated the treatment effects on the treated with matching estimators.

#### b) "Help Towards Work" (Hilfe zur Arbeit) for recipients of social benefits

Despite the high number of participants in the German "Help Towards Work" programme no evaluation studies on its labour market impacts exist. The reason for this is that the programme was placed to the local authorities' responsibility and therefore large regional differences existed. Some regional studies in the form of integration rates and cost benefit analyses exist (e.g., Böckmann-Schewe/Röhrig 1997; Kempken/Trube 1997; Trube 1994). But without comparing integration rates of participants to those of a suitable comparison group, the studies are not regarding the effectiveness of the programme.

#### International Evidence

The international studies can also be divided into the two fields of employment programmes for unemployment insurance benefit recipients who are rather close to the labour market and workfare programmes for social welfare recipients.

#### *a) public employment programmes*

Gerfin and Lechner (2001) investigate the impacts of various active labour market schemes in Switzerland on the employment probability of participants. These employment programmes (partly) have to create jobs that are additional like One-Euro-Jobs. The results of the study suggest that participation decreases the employment probability during the first 15 months after programme start. Only for women who start a programme in the public sector their employment rate after participation is higher than after non-participation. Moreover, the authors find positive impacts on the employment rate of participants for wage subsidies for jobs that are not required to be additional. Thus, they conclude that an important factor for the success of a programme is that the subsidised jobs are similar to regular jobs.

Calmfors et al. (2002) come to the same conclusion as Gerfin and Lechner (2001) in their overview of Swedish evaluation studies regarding different outcome variables: the effect of an employment programme increases if the job is closer to the labour market. Programmes like "relief work" and "work experience" are similar to One-Euro-Jobs in the respect that they are not similar to jobs in the regular labour market. They have either negative or zero effects on the labour market performance of participants.

#### b) workfare programmes

By "Workfare" we understand public employment programmes for recipients of social benefits. Following Lodemel (2000, 2005) workfare programmes show three constituting elements:

- Participation is compulsory. Benefits can be cut if needy persons refuse to participate. This means unemployment is also regarded as a lack of motivation.
- The programme is primarily about work. Qualification can be but is not necessarily content of the programme.
- Workfare is targeted on social benefit recipients. Benefit recipients are supposed to work for or instead of receiving benefits.

Following this definition One-Euro-Jobs are a workfare programme. Therefore, some lessons can be learned from the evaluation literature on workfare programmes in other countries.

Gueron and Pauly (1991) find positive effects of temporary workfareprogrammes in the United States: future income of participants increases compared to non-participants. Lissenburgh (2001) identifies for Great Britain that the New Deal for Long-Term Unemployed has a positive impact on labour market chances of participants. However, the considered programmes are mainly wage subsidies. Thus, comparability with One-Euro-Jobs is restricted.

Also in Denmark positive impacts of workfare programmes on labour market performance of participants can be found: Bolvig et al. (2003) find that workfare reduces the duration of benefit receipt mainly for persons with various placement barriers und persons under the age of 25. Locking-in effects are stronger for women than for men. Though participation in the considered programmes improves the chances of leaving welfare receipt, the duration of the subsequent employment cannot be increased.

Ochel (2004) resumes evaluation studies from various countries and concludes that subsidised employment is more effective than employment in programmes that are very distant to the labour market. Locking-in effects occur for employment programmes in the public sector.

To sum up, public employment schemes seem to be effective only for specific groups of participants. However, the results of the discussed evaluation studies do not allow us to draw already conclusions on the impact of participation in One-Euro-Jobs.

On the one hand a positive impact of One-Euro-Jobs on the labour market performance of participants can be expected, if we consider that job creation schemes enhanced labour market prospects for long-term unemployed participants, a group who can be regarded as similar to unemployment benefit II recipients (Caliendo 2006). On the other hand an adverse impact may be expected since One-Euro-Jobs have to be additional and of public interest (see results from Gerfin/Lechner 2001; Ochel 2004). Therefore the impacts of One-Euro-Jobs besides a short-term labour market relief are not known ex-ante. Considering the quantitative importance of One-Euro-Jobs and the persistent high rates of unemployment more knowledge about the impact of One-Euro-Jobs on individual employment chances is desirable.

## 4 Theoretical Background and Hypotheses

Active labour market policies (ALMPs) affect the labour market through a number of channels: e.g. by changing the matching efficiency between labour demand and labour supply, altering labour demand and supply at a given wage rate or by altering the wage-setting process (Calmfors 1994). In this paper we are concerned with the micro-effects of One-Euro-Jobs on participants. The participation in ALMP may influence the participants' labour market performance in various ways.

ALMPs may raise the effectiveness of job search of participants: Calmfors (1994) as well as Hagen and Steiner (2000) mention some reasons for this: First of all, qualifications of the job searchers adjust to requirements of job vacancies. Adjustment becomes necessary as according to human capital theory unemployment leads to loss of human capital and due to structural shifts in qualification

requirements. In this context One-Euro-Jobs could be beneficial, since participants may be trained on the job. Moreover, by participating in the programme long-term non-employed people could compensate for a loss of very basic skills, e.g., if they are no longer used to regular work-schedules. This might increase the participants' probability of getting a job offer. Second, ALMP participation could also achieve a rise in the arrival rate of job offers, because it signals employers the participant's the willingness to work. Finally, ALMPs could raise the search effort of participants: One-Euro-Jobs may reduce the value of benefit receipt due to a loss of leisure and because of making it harder to achieve earnings in the shadow economy.

Besides these desired effects, adverse effects can occur. First, locking-in effects can arise, that reduce efforts made by unemployed persons to search for employment. While participating in One-Euro-Jobs, a person's search efforts decrease, e.g., because participation reduces the time available for job search. Furthermore participation can reduce the motivation to look for employment because participants derive some utility from programme participation, e.g., due to carrying out a useful task instead of being without employment. Job search efforts can already decline before participation started if the unemployed person knows about his participation in advance ("Ashenfelter's Dip").

Even if the One-Euro-Job participation increases search efforts of the participants and they more quickly find regular employment than others, there still could be some adverse effects. Assume that the programme works partly through making benefit receipt more inconvenient for the participants. Moreover, assume that participants are aware of the fact that without participating in the programme, they would have faced benefit sanctions. Then the treatment could lead to faster job finding through lower reservation wages, such that participants tend to accept lower paid jobs than non-participants. In that case even if the regular employment rate of participants is raised, the likelihood that the households of the treated individuals are no longer needy may be adversely affected.

Moreover employers possibly do not regard active labour market programmes as equivalent to regular employment or other forms of qualification (*stigma effect*). This is likely to be the case if a programme like work opportunities is supposed to target people with specific difficulties to find a job such as long-term unemployed people. Therefore, stigma effects could play an important role. Moreover, One-Euro-Jobs should be additional to regular employment, such that the work experience in such jobs possibly is of little value for private employers. Hence, if there is no stigma effect, still for this reason participation may not contribute to raise the labour market performance of the participants.

Thus, the actual effect of active labour market programmes on the labour market performance of participants in general and of the One-Euro-Job in particular is not a priori clear. It has to be quantified by econometric research. For a number of reasons there should be groups of unemployed people for which this particular programme is likely to be effective or ineffective. Let us discuss some specific hypotheses, which our analysis is going to address.

Assume One-Euro-Job participation indeed does contribute to people's acquirement of basic skills needed to take up regular jobs. Then the programme clearly should help people with little experience in the labour market or people who were not regularly employed for long periods of time. The reason is that for them the beneficial effects of the programme are more likely to dominate the adverse effects like the locking-in effect than for others. The programme is supposed to improve the employability of people. Thus it may not be sufficient to raise their job-finding probabilities in the short-term. However, the higher the labour demand is, the more rapidly should an improvement in employability lead to a rise in the job finding rate of participants. So in low unemployment regions we should find the programme to be more effective than in high unemployment ones.

Creaming may be one of the reasons why beneficial effects of programme participation could be weak or absent and adverse locking-in and stigma effects dominate. This may be the case for groups of people with relatively good chances of finding a job, e.g., people with high qualifications, who are young or who only recently lost their jobs.

For young unemployed people as a group there is another reason why the policy in its current implementation could be ineffective. UB II recipients who are younger than 25 years are a special target group according to the Social Code II and are supposed to be placed to work, training or work opportunities immediately (Article 3 paragraph 2, Social Code II). In addition, the government defined an intermediate goal for this target group: young unemployed people should be registered as unemployed for no longer than three months (Federal Employment Agency 2006). This goal can be achieved by making them participate in programmes like One-Euro-Jobs. As a consequence the One-Euro-Job programme is far more concentrated on young than on other needy unemployed people. But this may come at a cost: UB II agencies probably select frequently young unemployment benefit II recipients into the programme, who would find more easily a job without this type of treatment. Therefore, an adverse participation effect for this target group is possible. Nevertheless, the programme may still have a beneficial effect as a work-test for young UB II recipients but rather due to a threat effect of strong benefit sanctions, if they refuse to participate.

This brings us to implications of the role of a programme as a work-test. Suppose that some needy unemployed people regard the programme as a threat, given that they have an earnings potential that is considerably higher than their unemployment benefit II or they have relatively high chances of finding a job. For them programme participation is hence similar to a benefit sanction. Such persons in contrast to those with low earnings potential will search harder for a job to avoid entering the programme (an ex-ante effect of the programme). Lockingin effects for participants with relatively good chances of finding well-paid jobs should be high anyway. The work-test element may even strengthen this effect.

If programme participation is similar to a sanction for such groups of participants, there should also be an ex-post effect. Due to high opportunity costs of participation, their search efforts could become higher and reservation wages lower than ex-ante. Then in particular after participation is completed their employment rates at some point in time may exceed those of comparable non-participants and locking-in effects could disappear quickly after participation. However, if the work-test mainly leads to ex-ante effects this will not be the case and for participants with high qualification, of young age or with recent job loss, the impact of participation on their employment rate may be low or even negative. Our study will not identify ex-ante effects: But for the interpretation of the results, these issues are still of importance.

Finally, the effects of the programme on the regular employment rate may differ from those on the rate of "no UB II receipt". Given that non-participants have more time to search for a job, they may be choosier with respect to wage offers.

In turn earnings that (comparable) control persons achieve in a new job could be higher and more frequently high enough to terminate benefit receipt than for treatments. But then the impact of One-Euro-Job participation on "no UB II receipt" should be lower than its impact on the employment rate at least in the short-term. Moreover, if the impact on the employment rate is not far from zero, the effect on the rate of "no UB II receipt" is likely to be negative.

## 5 Methods and Data

## 5.1 Methods

When evaluating the programme effects of One-Euro-Jobs, the problem of unobservable possible outcomes arises. This is the fundamental evaluation problem. The Roy (1951)-Rubin (1974)-Model gives a standard framework of this problem. The model and the matching method which under certain assumptions resolves the evaluation problem are discussed in many recent papers, e.g. Caliendo/Kopeinig (2006) or Sianesi (2004). The main pillars in the model are first individuals, second the treatment and third potential outcomes.

Every individual can potentially be in two states (treatment/no treatment) each with a possibly different outcome. As no individual can be observed in both of these two states at the same time, there is always a non-observed state, which is called the counterfactual.

Let D be an indicator for treatment, which takes the value one if a person is treated and zero otherwise. The treatment effect  $\tau_{ATT}$  for a treated individual would be the difference of his outcome with treatment ( $Y_i(1)$ ) and without the treatment ( $Y_i(0)$ ):

$$\tau_{ATT} = E[Y_i(1) - Y_i(0)|D_i = 1] = E[Y_i(1)|D_i = 1] - E[Y_i(0)|D_i = 1]$$
(1)

The outcome of an individual can never be observed in the treatment and the non-treatment state at the same time, so that the causal effect in equation (1) one is unobservable. This identification problem needs to be resolved. Under certain assumptions a comparison of the outcomes of treatment group members with very similar control members identify the average treatment effect on the treated (ATT).<sup>9</sup>

Propensity Score Matching is one approach to identify such effects. We follow the discussion of the approach by Becker/Ichino (2002): Let us define the propensity score according to Rosenbaum/Rubin (1983) as the conditional probability of treatment where  $X_i$  is a vector of observables at values prior to treatment.

$$P(X_i) = P[D_i = 1 | X_i] = E[D_i = 1 | X_i]$$
(2)

In this context some conditions have to hold for identifying the treatment effect: the condition of balancing of pre-treatment variables given the propensity score  $(D \perp X | P(X))$ . According to this condition observations with the same propensity score have the same distribution of observables; given pre-treatment character-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The decision on which effect to estimate depends on the research question. Heckman/ LaLonde/Smith (1999) discuss further parameters.

istics, treatment is random and treatments and control units do on average not differ with respect to pre-treatment characteristics. Next, there are the conditions of unconfoundedness ( $Y(1), Y(0) \perp X$ ) and of unconfoundedness given the propensity score ( $Y(1), Y(0) \perp P(X)$ ). Unconfoundedness is also labelled as the conditional independence assumption (CIA) and states that outcomes in case of treatment and non-treatment are independent from actual assignment to treatment given the propensity score.

If treatment is random within cells defined by the vector X, it is also random within such cells defined by the values of propensity score P(X), which in contrast to X has only one dimension. Given the above conditions, we have

$$\tau_{ATT} = E[Y_i(1) - Y_i(0) | D_i = 1]$$

$$= E\{E[Y_i(1) - Y_i(0) | D_i = 1, P(X_i)]\}$$

$$= E\{E[Y_i(1) | D_i = 1, P(X_i)] - E[Y_i(0) | D_i = 0, P(X_i)] | D_i = 1\}$$
(3)

The basic idea of the matching estimator is to substitute the unobservable expected outcome without treatment of the treated  $E[Y_i(0) | D_i = 1]$  by an observable expected outcome of a suitable control group  $E[Y_i(0) | D_i = 0, P(X_i)]$  that has the same distribution of the propensity score as the treatment group. To implement a matching estimator, it requires the additional assumption of common support

$$0 < P(D=1 \mid X) < 1$$
(4)

since for individuals whose probability of treatment is either 0 or 1, no counterfactual can be found. Finally, the "stable unit treatment value assumption" (SUTVA) has to be made. It states that the individual's potential outcome only depends on his own participation and not on the treatment status of other individuals. It implies that there are neither general equilibrium nor cross-person effects. In our context there is certainly reason to question this assumption. Since a large number of individuals are treated, we would expect that the outcomes without treatment are also affected, e.g., because in the short-term the number of vacancies is fixed. If treatment leads to vacancies being filled more quickly by treated individuals, the job search process of the non-treated may be prolonged.

We estimate the ATT effects at different points in time after programme start (t=0):

$$\tau_{ATT,t} = E[Y_{i,t}(1) \mid D_{i,0} = 1, P(X_{i,0})] - E\{E[Y_{i,t}(0) \mid D_{i,0} = 0, P(X_{i,0})] \mid D_{i,0} = 1\}$$
(5)

As propensity score matching estimators we use nearest neighbour and radius matching imposing common support. Both techniques select for each treatment observation one or more comparison individuals from a potential control group. The following equation defines these estimators<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For simplicity we leave away the subscript t for time after programme start.

$$\tau_{ATT} = \frac{1}{N_{treated}} \sum_{i \in treated} \left[ Y_i(1) - \sum_{j \in controls} w_{ij} \cdot Y_j(0) \right],$$
(6)

where  $N_{treated}$  is the number of treated persons.  $w_{ii}$  is a weight defined as

$$w_{ij} = \frac{1}{N_{i,controls}}$$
 (7)

where  $N_{i,controls}$  represent the number of controls matched to the i<sup>th</sup> treated person. With nearest neighbour matching, this number is chosen by the researcher: e.g., for each treated individual from the control group five neighbours are chosen whose propensity score differs less from that of the treated individual than those of all other control group members. In case of radius matching, all control group individuals are chosen whose propensity score does not differ in absolute terms from the one of the treatment individual by more than a given distance. In that case the number of matched controls may differ for each treatment individual. For the analytical variances and hence the standard errors of these estimators see Becker/Ichino (2002). When carrying out the analysis we followed the outline from Caliendo and Kopeinig (2006).

#### 5.2 Data

For the CIA to hold good data are important. It is not enough thinking about good estimators (Heckman et al., 1998) but a data source that is rich in terms of information on individual characteristics and in particular on their programme participation and other labour market outcomes is essential. Characteristics on the individual's household are an important addition to such information. The data in use are administrative data of the German Federal Employment Agency that were prepared for scientific use at the Institute for Employment Research and contain the mentioned information on a daily basis. We use samples of the "Integrated Employment Biographies" (IEB).<sup>11</sup> Individual information about employment and unemployment history, daily earnings, occupation, education, and active labour market programme history is available in these data. We additionally rely on information of a job-seeker data base ("Bewerberangebotsdatei") that provides information on socio-demographic characteristics.<sup>12</sup>

Many evaluation studies of active labour market programmes rely on administrative data. In contrast to most of these studies, we have the information just described not only for the persons of the treatment and control group but also for members of their needy household. This information is available since the benefit reform of the year 2005, as a new way of registering members of means-tested households was introduced. As a consequence, a new data set, the "Unemployment Benefit II Receipt History", which contains spells of means-tested benefit receipt on all members of a needy household together with a household identifier is available. Hence, our set of covariates that potentially determines the propen-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The data exclude the 69 districts in which only local authorities are in charge of administering the unemployment benefit II. For them systematic information on programme participation is not available.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In particular we computed covariates on family status, children, migration background and health status with information from this data base.

sity is a lot richer than that of many other comparable studies. This is particularly important to justify the Conditional Independence Assumption.

For the treatment group we use the total inflow into One-Euro-Jobs from February to April 2005 of persons who were both registered unemployed and 'unemployment benefit II' recipients at the end of January 2005. We only consider unemployed persons aged 15 to 62 years, since older unemployment benefit II recipients do nearly never enter One-Euro-Jobs and we want to avoid keeping persons in the sample who enter their old-age-pension within our observations window. The potential controls stem from a 20 percent random sample of unemployment benefit II recipients who were unemployed at 31st January 2005 and who did not enter the One-Euro-Job programmes from February to April 2005. For the control group members naturally no programme start is available over this period. Therefore, we computed a random programme start for the controls such that it follows the distribution of programme starts of the treatment group over these months and excluded those controls from our analyses who exited from unemployment before the calcuted random programme start.<sup>13,14</sup>

The data on the outcomes was constructed from two data sources. We used information on contributory employment and whether people are registered as unemployed or as job-seekers from an additional data set, the "Verbleibsnachweise". These administrative data have one great advantage over the IEB, which also contains such information. They provide the information for a more recent past (e.g., at the time we carried out our analysis the IEB contained information on all contributory employment currently only until the end of the year 2005 and the "Verbleibsnachweise" until May 2007). This is important since we deal with a relatively recent treatment and need to observe outcomes for a sufficiently long period of time after treatment. Combining these data with information on participation of our sample members in ALMPs allows us to compute whether the sample members hold an unsubsidized job of contributory employment at different points in time. We label this variable "regular employment". By combining these data, the observation window for this outcome contains 20 months after programme start. It is 12 months longer than it would have been, if we had relied on IEB information only. The "Verbleibsnachweise" also allow an observation window of 25 months after programme start for our second outcome variable "neither registered as unemployed nor as job-seeker" which is five months longer than that of the IEB.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> When computing the random programme start, we took into account differences of the distribution of programme starts between men and women in East and West Germany. If between 31<sup>st</sup> of January 2005 and their (computed or true) programme start control or treatment group members already exited from unemployment (e.g., due to some other programme participation), they were dismissed from our samples.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The data collected by the UB II agencies at the beginning of the year 2005 is certainly characterised by some measurement error. This is not surprising, given that more than three million needy households with more than six million benefit recipients had to be registered according to the new system. In particular, a new software, "A2II", was introduced to register basic information on benefits and other traits of the needy households and their members. Not all UB II agencies provided complete information at the beginning of the year 2005 with this software according to the Statistical Department of the Federal Employment Agency. Therefore to some extent the daily information is not precise. Dates of individual events like the start or end of benefit receipt may not always have been reported or do not precisely reflect the true dates.

The information on the third outcome variable "unemployment benefit receipt" stems from another data set, the "Unemployment Benefit II Receipt History" (Leistungshistorik Grundsicherung) and is available for 24 months after programme start.

The sample sizes of treatments and controls are displayed in Table 1 and are considerable. Overall we have more than 70,000 treated. The smallest group are West German women with more than 9,000 participants. For men and women in East or West Germany, there are between 51,000 and 102,000 individuals as potential controls.

# 6 Results: Average treatment effects on the treated of One-Euro-Jobs

#### 6.1 Implementation

We present results for the ATT generally for four groups: men and women in East Germany and in West Germany in order to take into account gender differences and the considerable differences between the East and West German labour markets. Apart from estimating the effects for these four broad samples, we also take into account additional effect heterogeneity. We regard four different age groups (15-24, 25-35, 36-50 and 51-62 years), and Germans without versus Germans with migration background and foreigners and for West Germany also foreigners with different nationalities. Next, we distinguish between three occupational qualification groups (no qualification, apprenticeship/vocational training and higher qualification) and regions with low, intermediate or high unemployment rates. Moreover, we distinguish between people who ended their last regular contributory employment in the year 2004, the years 2001 to 2003, 1992 to 2000 and before 1992 or who were never employed. The sample sizes of these different groups are also presented in Table 1.

We investigate the effects of participation in a One-Euro-Job on three different outcome variables at different points in time after programme start to have a comprehensive insight into the effects of the programme. First, we investigate the effect of participation on the probability of being regularly employed (i.e. unsubsidised contributory employment). Second, we observe whether the persons in our sample are registered as unemployed or job-seeker. The second outcome compared to the first includes participation in active labour market programmes as participants are registered as a job seeker in the majority of cases. Thus, a person who is neither registered as unemployed nor as job-seeking can be a) regularly employed with a working time of 15 hours a week or more, for more than three months and earning sufficiently to live on or b) they have no longer registered as unemployed or job-seeking. Hence, this outcome variable by and large can be interpreted as an indicator for either being employed in a regular and rather stable job or being out of the labour force. Third, we observe whether the household of the person still receives unemployment benefit II. If the household no longer receives UB II, this can be because the household is no longer needy or because the household stopped applying for benefits. For the first possibility there can be several reasons: the person in our sample or other members in the person's household achieve earnings, such that the household no longer passes the means-test. Various changes in the household composition may also lead to such a result. E.g., a person in our sample moves to another household with sufficient earnings.

For each of the analysed groups we estimated one probit model for the probability to participate in One-Euro-Jobs. The covariate sets in these analyses contain personal characteristics (age, nationality, migration status, health indicators, whether the person is single, number of children and qualification), labour market and unemployment benefit history (indicators on unemployment, nonemployment, and regular employment periods in the past, UI and UA receipt, past participation in active labour market programmes, characteristics of the last job, whether a person has a minor employment in January 2005), characteristics of the partner (labour market history and qualification) and finally regional characteristics (dummy variables reflecting a classification of the labour market situation developed by Rüb and Werner (2007) and some further controls at district level: unemployment rate, share of long-unemployment in the unemployment pool, ratio between the vacancy and the unemployment stock in January 2005 and their percentage change against the previous year). These characteristics should make it likely that the treatment and control outcomes given the propensity scores differ only due to treatment and hence the unconfoundedness condition holds.

In particular partner characteristics are new in this context, as administrative data are usually weak on such information. Partner characteristics play a role for the employment decisions but also for outcomes like "no receipt of UB II", e.g., a UB II recipient with a highly in contrast to a low skilled partner is more likely to exit from UB II, when the partner finds a job.

The probit models that we estimated rely on the described set of covariates. Nevertheless, the exact specification of covariate sets differs over the subgroups. This is first of all because the lower the sample sizes, the broader some variables (e.g., dummy variables for age groups) have to be defined. Second, for the samples that we regard, a number of covariates are highly insignificant and have been deleted.<sup>15</sup> In Table 2 we present the coefficients of the four probit models that distinguish between East and West German men and women. The coefficients of probit models that underlie the estimation of the ATTs for the additional subgroups like estimates for different age groups are not presented in this paper; they are available on request.

## 6.2 Match Quality, Sensitivity Analysis

#### Rosenbaum Bounds

Our results are based on the assumption of unconfoundedness. If there are any unobserved variables that influence selection into the programme as well as outcome variables of the programme a hidden bias could occur and matching estimators would not be robust. The basic idea behind Rosenbaum Bounds is that the odds of treatment of two matched individuals is one, given that they are characterised by the same observables.<sup>16</sup> If there are neglected unobserved fac-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> We estimated in all cases a probit model with a full variable set and tested whether groups of variables, e.g., binary variables for the last monthly earnings or the last economic sector were jointly insignificant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>  $\frac{P(X_i)/[1-P(X_i)]}{P(X_j)/[1-P(X_j)]}$  would represent the odds of treatment of two matched individuals

i and j with the same covariate vectors.

tors that influence the participation probabilities though, these odds of treatment could change, e.g., to a value two. With the help of Rosenbaum bounds we can conduct an analysis that determines how sensitive our results are to the influence of an unobserved variable. It shows how strong neglected unobserved factors have to change the odds ratio, so that we overestimate or underestimate the treatment effect.

We computed the Mantel-Haentzel statistic using the Stata Programme "mhbounds" by Becker/Caliendo (2007). We calculated the test statistic  $Q_{MH}$  for the three outcomes in every observed month after programme start for each sample we considered. Here we report the bounds for the outcome regular employment and for the four broad groups of men and women in East and West Germany in the 20<sup>th</sup> month only. These are the bounds for nearest neighbour matching with one neighbour and without replacement, as the mhbounds command can only be applied for nearest neighbour matching without replacement or for stratification matching (Becker/Caliendo 2007).

The results are quite sensitive to a potential hidden bias: for men in East and West Germany we find that participation has an insignificant effect on the employment rate after 20 months after programme start. Unobserved factors that lead to odds ratios of 1.05 or 1.10 are sufficient to produce positive or negative significant effects. Effects of East German women are sensitive to a factor of 1.05. Less sensitive are the positive treatment effects of West German women. Unobservable influences that change the odds ratio up to a factor of 1.15 would still be in line with a significant effect at a 10%-level and at a factor of 1.20 they become insignificant.

The results of the sensitivity analysis do not mean that a bias actually exists but that matching results are sensitive to possible deviations from the assumption of unconfoundedness and thus one has to be careful in interpreting the results. However, the treatment effects we obtained are weak und thus it is not surprising that they are sensitive to a potential bias.

#### Common support

Furthermore for propensity score matching we have to assume that there is a common support which means that the propensity score should lie between zero and one and that the distributions of the propensity score are similar for treatment and control groups. In Figure 1 and 2 the distributions of the propensity score are displayed for men and women in East and West Germany and it becomes obvious that distributions for control and treatment group are very similar.

#### Sensitivity to matching methods

We estimated the ATT using different matching estimators, nearest neighbour one-to-one matching with and without replacement and nearest neighbour matching with replacement using five neighbours. First, each estimation was carried out without caliper. We estimated the 90<sup>th</sup> and 99<sup>th</sup> percentile of the differences between the propensity score of treatments and controls (in absolute terms) in each application. These percentiles were then used as 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> caliper leaving out the worst one and ten percent of matches. Furthermore, we estimated the ATT radius-caliper matching with the same percentiles that resulted from nearest neighbour one-to-one matching with replacement. This analysis confirmed that our estimation results are quite stable over the different methods. Deviations tend to be small and only in a few cases and at few points in time

they are outside the 95 percent confidence band of the nearest neighbour estimator with five neighbours and with replacement. We present results based on this latter estimator.

#### Balancing

As we do not condition on all covariates but on the propensity score, we have to check the balancing of the relevant variables. Therefore we applied several measures that give us information on the balancing. The standardised absolute bias measures the distance in the marginal distribution of the covariates. Table 3 displays the standard absolute bias as an average over all covariates. Before matching, the biases for the four broad groups of men and women in East and West Germany range from seven to eleven percent and for the smaller subgroups from about seven up to 22 percent. After matching the bias does not exceed 0.5 percent for the four broad samples and decreases for the subgroups to values between 0.4 and 4.1 percent. However, for most subgroups the bias falls below the value of two percent.

Besides the standardised bias for all covariates we checked the matching quality for single covariates. Tables 4 to 7 display the mean of the covariates for treatments, all controls and matched controls for men and women in East and West Germany. Furthermore, the p-values of a t-test on the hypothesis that the mean of a given covariate is the same for the control and the treatment group are displayed for all covariates. The results demonstrate that after matching there are no significant differences between treatment and control group in any of the variables.

## 6.3 Overall effects

The ATT for the four broad subgroups are shown in Figure 3 and Table 9 to Table 11. We present the results for the three outcomes regular employment, neither being unemployed nor a job-seeker and no receipt UB II. The results stem from nearest neighbour matching with replacement which matches five individuals from the control group to a treated individual. Standard errors were bootstrapped with 100 repetitions. Note though that Abadie/Imbens (2006) showed that in nearest neighbour matching applications bootstrapped standard errors are not valid in general.

According to Figure 3 there are locking-in effects in the short: In the first ten months after programme start participants have a lower probability of being regularly employed than comparable non-participants. However, at around six months after the start of the programme the estimated ATTs for the employment rate starts to rise. For women in East and West Germany positive effects appear after 16 (West) and 19 months (East). They are well-determined 20 months after programme start, implying that the employment rate of participants is raised by one percentage point for East German women and 2.7 percentage points for West German women. So for them One-Euro-Jobs participation is effective when it comes to integrating them into the regular labour market.

The policy is ineffective with respect to integrating men into employment during the first 20 months after programme start. And it generally performs worse for participants in East Germany than for participants in West Germany. This may be due to the different economic performance of the two regions and the resulting differences between their labour markets. If there are less job vacancies per unemployed person, locking-in effects as well as positive effects could be smaller. Also other reasons may explain the East-West difference: In the East in contrast to West One-Euro-Jobs are presumably more a relief for long-term non-employed similar to traditional job creation schemes and less a means of improving employability.

The programme effects of the employment outcome are weak in the first 20 months after programme start. This holds in particular for the locking-in effect, if we contrast our findings to those of Caliendo (2005a) on job creation schemes in Germany. They find for example locking-in effects that imply a roughly 20 percentage points reduction of the employment rate at around eight months after programme start for West German public works participants. Our strongest locking-in effect emerged for women in West Germany at minus three percentage points. Since, One-Euro-Job participation lasts frequently six months or less, while public works participation in the above mentioned study rather lasted one year, the length of programme participation is one reason for these differences. Another reason is that needy One-Euro-Job participants are with respect to job finding perspectives a much less positive selection of people from the unemployment pool than the public works participants in the study of Caliendo et al. (2005a). Moreover, the difference could also partly be explained by an incentive effect. Job creation schemes provide participants with a wage, while in One-Euro-Jobs they receive just their UB II and a small compensation. Additionally, working time in One-Euro-Jobs is limited to 30 hours per week which means that there is more time left for participants for job search and thus, locking-in effects are supposed to be reduced.

Regarding the other two outcome variables only negative effects can be observed. That means that participants have a higher probability of being registered unemployed or job seeking and of receiving UB II than comparable nonparticipants. In the short-run the negative impact on the probability of being neither unemployed nor job-seeking is not surprising since participants are counted as job-seeking while they participate in a One-Euro-Job.

The enduring negative effects on the outcomes not registered as unemployed nor as a job-seeker and no UB II receipt after two years are stronger than the positive ones on the probability of being regularly employed 20 months after programme start. The rate of no UB II receipt is reduced by about two to three percentage points two years after programme start for the participants. Hence, treatment does not avoid UB II receipt. One reason for this result could be that One-Euro-Jobs participants in contrast to comparable persons more frequently find jobs that pay low wages and jobs that are only temporary and in case of women only part-time. If the programme has some threat effect on participants, they may well have reduced their reservations wages as mentioned in section four. In turn, even with a (slight) positive effect on their employment rate after participation ended, One-Euro-Job participation still raises the job-seeker rate of participants. Moreover, the achieved post-participation earnings are often low enough to pass the means-test for UB II receipt. As soon as we have earnings information for a sufficient period of time, we can shed more light on this latter hypothesis.

There may even be more reasons for the negative effects of treatment on the nojob-seeker rate and the no UB II receipt rate. One-Euro-Job participants who have specific difficulties of finding a job may be likely to participate in other active labour market programmes after One-Euro-Job ended, as it is only one of the first steps in achieving employability. Moreover, comparable non-participants maybe more likely to retreat temporarily or permanently from the labour market than participants. E.g., without One-Euro-Job participation young people more frequently enter full-time education and aged people more frequently choose the early retirement option. Finally, changes in household formation may explain the results partly: People who are not subject to activation policies could more frequently change their household composition in a way such that leads the household out of UB II receipt.

We will shed some more light on these issues, in particular on the earnings accepted after participation and reservations wages, when more micro data on the characteristics of the jobs become available. Currently the administrative data provides us only with wage information for the year 2005, but in one year they will offer us the possibility to study earnings about 20 months after programme start. Moreover, panel data of a new household panel survey that oversamples needy households will enable us in the future to regard, whether participation has an impact on reservations wages of participants.

## 6.4 Effects by Age

As previously mentioned young unemployed under the age of 25 years are a special target group of Social Code II and of One-Euro-Jobs in particular. In the first half of the year 2005 among needy unemployed people aged younger than 25 years every fourth person started a One-Euro-Job (Wolff/Hohmeyer 2006). For this age group we observe locking-in effects that are stronger than for any other age group (Table 9 to Table 11). One year after programme start young participants have a probability of being regularly employment that is 2.1 to 2.7 percentage points lower than the probability for comparable benefit recipients who did not participate (Table 9). And these effects are statistically significant.

20 months after programme start the effects on the employment rate are still negative for men in both regions and women in East Germany, while for women in West Germany they are positive. But in all cases they are not well determined. For young women we observe a strong negative effect on neither being unemployed nor job-seeking: they have a ten to eleven percentage points higher probability of being registered as unemployed or job-seeking one year after programme start (Table 10). This may point to the fact that without treatment women under 25 retreat more frequently from the labour market (e.g., due to child rearing or full-time education).

Table 9 shows that locking-in effects for the outcome regular job decline in age, when we regard the effects 12 months after programme start, i.e. the month in which nearly all programme participations are completed. This decline is not surprising. The probability of finding a job tends to decrease over the age groups for needy unemployed people (Wolff/Hohmeyer 2006). A significant positive ATT for the employment rate can be observed for some participant groups above the age of 25 years. For East German women and West German men, treatment raises the employment rate by about one to 1.5 percentage points for the age groups of 36 to 50 and 51 to 62 years. Our estimates also imply a positive and somewhat stronger treatment effect ranging from 2.2 to 4.3 percentage points for West Germans who belong to the age groups 25 to 35, 36 to 50 and 51 to 62 years. The highest effect occurred for West German women aged 25 to 35 years.

Unemployed people aged 50 years or older are a special target group for the work-opportunity programmes, due to their relatively low job finding probabil-

ity.<sup>17</sup> But the policy framework does not generally aim at activating aged unemployed workers. There are specific rules for unemployed people who are older than 57 years. They are allowed to opt for the earliest possible retirement and in turn do not have to sign an integration contract or be available for job offers.<sup>18</sup> Moreover, since July 2005 a special One-Euro-Job programme was implemented for this age group. The upper limit for the duration of participation in this special programme is three years. Integrating needy aged workers into the regular labour market is not the only goal of this specific programme, because such an integration often cannot be achieved for above 57 year olds. Thus, it aims at using the older unemployed persons' professional experience (in jobs of public interest) and provides them with an alternative to being unemployed, which should ideally be combined with a retirement transition (Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affaires 2005).

Nevertheless, our results show that for needy unemployed people aged 51 to 62 years, treatment can raise their employment rates. Moreover, they are also the age group for which the rate of neither being registered as unemployed nor as a job-seeker decreases considerably due to treatment. 25 months after programme start this rate is about seven to ten percentage points lower than for the matched controls according to our results displayed in Table 10. Hence, participation indeed leads to avoiding or postponing the decision to retreat from the labour market.

Finally, in West Germany 51 to 62 years olds are the only age-group, where we find that the ATT on the rate of no UB II receipt is near zero and hence not (significantly) reduced as for all the other groups (Table 11). The negative estimated ATT on the no UB II receipt rate for East Germans aged 51 to 62 years may be due to the fact that East Germans more frequently than West Germans qualify for early retirement. Wübbeke (2007) shows that aged East German UB II recipients are characterised by higher contribution periods to the statutory pension funds than West Germans. In turn they are more likely to fulfil the eligibility criterion for early retirement of a contribution period 15 years or more. Hence, in case of not participating in Euro-Jobs East Germans in contrast to West Germans could more frequently opt for early retirement and exit for this reason from unemployment benefit II receipt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Despite the definition as a target group unemployed who are older than 49 were not especially focussed on by One-Euro-Jobs in 2005 (Wolff/Hohmeyer 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> This is regulated in Article 65 paragraph 4 SGB II and Article 428 SGB III. The earliest retirement age for unemployed people was 60 years in the year 2005, provided they have been unemployed for at least 12 months after an age of 58 years and six months (Article 237 Social Code VI). To be eligible for this early retirement option they need to have contributed to the statutory pension insurance funds for at least 15 years and at least eight years in the ten years prior to early retirement. Over the period from 2006 to 2008 though this early retirement age will be gradually increased to 63 years.

## 6.5 Effects by Nationality

The results for Germans without migration background, Germans with migration background<sup>19</sup> and foreigners show the following: In East Germany the estimated ATTs for the employment outcome are small 20 months after programme start; only for women without migration background they are well-determined but nevertheless below one percentage point as displayed by Table 9. The estimated ATTs for East Germans with respect to the outcome "no UB II receipt" point to adverse affects of the programme participation 24 months after programme start: For all groups there is a negative impact (Table 11). It is particularly high in absolute terms for Germans with migration background whose rate of "no UB II receipt" is decreased by more than four percentage points for men and more than six percentage points for women by treatment. It is also high for foreign women in East Germany at more than four percentage points.

For West Germany, the sample sizes allowed us to distinguish between different groups of foreigners. We distinguished between foreigners from the former Soviet Union, Turks and all other foreigners. Our results imply positive effects of treatment on the regular employment rate of Germans with no migration background of 0.7 percentage points for men and 2.2 percentage points for women 20 months after programme start. For West German women with migration background the estimated ATT is considerably higher at nearly seven percentage points. For the different groups of foreigners the effects are not-well determined and only considerable for the group of all other foreigners at values between two and three percentage points 20 months after programme start.

Nevertheless, also in West Germany One-Euro-Job participation does not lead more people out of benefit receipt as the estimated ATTs for the outcome "no UB II receipt" in Table 11 demonstrate. 24 months after programme start the effects are mostly negative and at the same time for Germans, men of Turkish nationality or men and women in the group of other foreigners well determined.

## 6.6 Effects by occupational qualification

Qualification is considered as one crucial factor determining a person's labour market performance. People with no occupational degree have particular difficulties in finding a job. They could benefit from One-Euro-Job participation by accumulating basic skills and hence by raising their employability. However, for men in both regions and women in East Germany without occupational degree we find that participation is ineffective, with near zero or slightly negative effects 20 months after programme start as displayed in Table 9. Only for unskilled West German women the estimated ATT for the employment rate is well determined and positive at 2.5 percentage points.

The ATTs on the employment rate for participants with vocational training and higher occupational degrees tend to be higher than for the unskilled participant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The data does not only allow to identify whether persons are of German or foreign nationality. For Germans the job-seeker data base provides also limited information on their migration background. It allows to identify immigrants with German ancestors who became German nationals as well as asylum-seekers and specific types of refugees, who became German nationals. Such people define our group of people with migration background.

group. But only for the highest qualification group and only for women in East and West Germany with ATTs on the employment rate 20 months after programme start of three and more than four percentage points, respectively, the difference to the effect for the unskilled group is substantial (see Table 9). This could reflect that for high-skilled women there is an effect that is rather due to a work-test than due to impacts on employability.<sup>20</sup>

For the other two outcomes our estimated ATTs are negative for each qualification group men and women in both region and usually well-determined even more than 20 months after programme start (Table 10 and 11). Even though for women we found a difference between the impacts on the employment rate of the highest and lowest skill group of roughly two to three percentage points, there is nearly no difference between them when we regard the ATTs on the effects of UB II receipt 24 months after programme start. For East German women the estimated ATTs imply that the rate is reduced by three percentage points for the low skilled group and 3.4 percentage points for the group with the highest skills. The corresponding values for West German women are 3.1 and 2.8 percentage points. We interpret these latter results as evidence that the programme effect for high skilled women implies a reduction in reservation wages. Due to treatment some of them have accepted regular wage offers that they otherwise would have rejected.

## 6.7 Effects by regional unemployment rate

The ATTs for the employment rate do not vary much according to the regional unemployment rate, where the treatment takes place (Table 9). Moreover, the results displayed in Table 9 do not show that participation is more effective for the treated in low compared with higher unemployment regions. We would have regarded this as evidence for the impact of treatment on employability, which at least in low but not necessarily in high unemployment regions should lead to increased employment rates of the treated. But our results are not in line with this hypothesis.

## 6.8 Effects by time since last employment

The One-Euro-Job programme is designed for needy unemployed people who have very low chances of finding a job. People who were out of employment for quite some time are no longer used to regular work-schedules and presumably also no longer motivated to search for jobs. For such people and not for people with a recent experience in the labour market a One-Euro-Job participation should be quite beneficial.

The estimated ATTs for the employment outcome displayed in Table 9 are much in favour of the above hypothesis: For men and women in East or West Germany who worked in unsubsidized contributory employment in the year 2004, the programme is ineffective. First of all, the ATTs 12 months after programme start are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Our results are based on a sample of people aged 15 to 62 years. Hence, many sample members with no occupational qualification are still very young and may complete some qualification. Therefore, we estimated also the ATTs for all three qualification groups with a sample of people aged 25 to 62 years. The results of this analysis differ only little from the results on the ATTs that we present. Hence, the qualitative implications of both analyses are by and large the same.

all negative and point to much higher locking-in effects than for all groups of people who ended their last regular job, before the year 2004. Moreover, even 20 months after programme start the employment rate of those with a regular job in 2004 is (significantly) reduced by about three percentage points for men 1.5 to 2.3 percentage points for women.

In contrast to needy participants with recent employment, treatment is effective for needy people in West Germany if their last regular job ended in the years 2001 to 2003. The treatment effect is 1.8 percentage points for men and 2.7 percentage points for women 20 months after programme start. Both in the East and the West the policy is also effective for the treated whose last job ended between the years 1992 and 2000. They are the group with the highest treatment effect for women in both regions and for men in West Germany. For West German women the treatment effect is quite substantial at about six percentage points 20 months after programme start. The effects for those who were never employed or whose last employment ended before 1992 tend to be lower than for those last employed between 1992 and 2000, but are still positive and for West German women also significant.

Nevertheless, the employment success of participation for some of these groups is not translating into a success in terms of avoiding "UB II receipt" during our observation window of two years after programme start. The estimated ATTs for that outcome are negative for all of them and nearly always significant as shown in Table 11.

## 7 Summary and Conclusions

In this paper we analysed the effects of One-Euro-Job participation on the labour market performance of participants. As this is a recently introduced programme, this question has not been studied yet. We consider participants who started a One-Euro-Job in spring 2005 and who have been unemployed and receiving UB II at the end of January 2005. We applied Propensity Score Matching using administrative data of the Federal Employment Agency. These data have several advantages over other data sources. First, we have a large number of observations available that allows us to control for personal heterogeneity. Second, the data include information on household members of benefit recipients, which makes the underlying assumption of conditional independence of the matching estimator more plausible.

We estimated the ATT separately for men and women and East and West Germany due to the different labour market conditions in both German regions. Moreover, we estimated the ATTs distinguishing different groups of participants according to age, migration background, occupational qualification, regional unemployment rate and time since last job. This analysis identifies for which participant groups the programme is effective and there are various reasons to expect that its effectiveness varies between specific groups of people. To have a comprehensive insight in the effects of One-Euro-Jobs on the labour market performance of participants we estimated the ATT for three different outcome variables: the regular employment rate, being neither registered as unemployed nor as job-seeker and no unemployment benefit II receipt.

Our results suggest the following: First of all, regarding the outcome regular employment there are locking-in effects of programme participation. This is not surprising for a programme of median duration of six months. However, compared with earlier evaluation results of the public works programme, the locking-in effects are quite small. The likely reason for this is that public works programme participation lasts longer - usually rather for a year - and the participants receive a wage and not only their unemployment benefit and a few Euros more.

Second, regarding our broad samples, only for women and in particular West German women, the participation at some point after programme start raises the employment rate. For East German women we observed that at the end of our observation window, where 20 months after programme start the employment rate is raised by one percentage points. For West German women the corresponding number is 2.7 percentage points and the positive effects occur already four months earlier than for East German women. Compared to the effects on the participants of other programmes such as wage subsidies and within-company training the treatment effects of the One-Euro-Jobs are relatively small. However, this is what can be expected considering the special group of participants in One-Euro-Jobs and bearing in mind that One-Euro-Jobs have to be additional and of public use and thus are not that close to regular employment.

Third, the programme is ineffective with respect to avoiding that people are registered as unemployed or job-seekers and avoiding unemployment benefit II receipt. One potential reason for the latter result is that One-Euro-Job participants find frequently lower paid jobs than the comparable non-participants. In turn the achieved earnings in regular jobs of the One-Euro-Job participants are less frequently sufficient to exit benefit receipt than for the controls. Hence, the programme presumably reduces the reservation wages of participants. Moreover, the non-participants may also more frequently take other routes out of unemployment benefit II receipt than the One-Euro-Jobs participants; e.g. by changing to a household with sufficiently high income or by opting for early retirement in case of older benefit recipients.

Fourth, we find that there are some groups of participants for which One-Euro-Jobs are quite effective, while for others the participation is rather ineffective. A high variation of the effect is observed for participants of different age. For participants aged younger than 25 years the effects on the employment rate tend to be negative and lower than for the other age-groups. Such deviations are particularly high for West German women: The ATT 20 months after programme start is only about one percentage points for the under 25 year olds and between 2.2 and 4.3 percentage points for the other age-groups.

For the employment outcome the ATTs do not vary that much by qualification or the regional unemployment rate. However, they vary considerably with time since last job. For participants who lost their last job in 2004, the treatment effect is negative for both gender and regions 20 months after programme start (the decrease ranges from 1.5 to about three percentage points). For those who lost their job before the year 2004 or who were never regularly employed the opposite is true. They are highest for West German women who lost their last contributory job between 1992 and 2000 at more than five percentage points.

As One-Euro-Jobs are supposed to help the participants to learn the basic preconditions for work, we assumed that they are particularly effective for those unemployed with low employment chances. However, with respect to this hypothesis we find mixed results. On the one hand, participation in a One-Euro-Job is ineffective for participants without an occupational qualification. On the other hand, participation integrates unemployed into the labour market who have not been employed for several years. This is a group that should also have particular difficulties in finding a regular job. Moreover, the analysis of some specific participant groups implies that locking-in effects tend to be stronger for those unemployed with relatively good chances of finding a job without treatment. For example, locking-in effects are stronger in West than in East Germany. Young unemployed people under the age of 25 years are a special target group of One-Euro-Jobs. Locking-In effects for young unemployed are higher than for any other age group. Even in the medium term, young unemployed people do not benefit from participation in a One-Euro-Job. This gives reason to reconsider the targeting on young unemployed persons.

The policy implications are only partly straightforward: The programme is effective for West German women, and some groups of participants with low chances of finding a job like those aged 51 to 62 years or those who were not recently employed. For a special target group, the under 25 year olds, the One-Euro-Jobs are rather ineffective. Given these results one may argue that the share of participants in the One-Euro-Job programme should become higher for the groups for which it is most effective. Though there are some further effects to be considered: As the programme serves also as a work-test, the adverse effects for some groups of participants may be due to a threat effect that raises the job search efforts already without participation. This is likely for population groups with relatively high chances of finding jobs and a high likelihood of participating in One-Euro-Jobs, e.g., for the under 25 year olds.

There are many questions that future research should shed some light on. First of all, since the available time horizon after programme start is still short, we need to extend the analysis in order to see whether participation is effective in the medium-term. Second, the treatment effects of additional outcomes like earnings and stable versus unstable employment will be quantified. Third, we did not address the question of programme heterogeneity: E.g., is the programme more effective for participants in full-time or part-time One-Euro-Jobs. Finally, our results cannot show whether the programme is effective on a macro basis in the sense of raising the employment rates in regular jobs or reducing the jobseeker rate or rate of means-tested benefit receipt.

#### References

- Abadie, Alberto, and Guido W. Imbens (2006): "On the Failure of the Bootstrap for Matching Estimators", National Bureau of Economic Research Technical Working Paper No. 0325.
- Becker, Sascha. O., and Marco Caliendo (2007): "Sensitivity Analysis for Average Treatment Effects", *The Stata Journal*, 7(1), 71-83.
- Becker, Sascha O., and Andrea Ichino (2002): "Estimation of Average Treatment Effects based on Propensity Scores ", *The Stata Journal*, 2(4), 358-377.
- Böckmann-Schewe, Lisa, and Anne Röhrig (1997): "Hilfe zur Arbeit. Analyse der Wirksamkeit öffentlich geförderter Beschäftigung der SozialhilfeempfängerInnen", Düsseldorf.
- Blos, Kerstin, and Helmut Rudolph (2005): "Simulationsrechnungen zum Arbeitslosengeld II - Verlierer, aber auch Gewinner", Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung Kurzbericht Nr. 17/2005, Nürnberg.
- Bolvig, Iben, Peter Jensen, and Michael Rosholm (2003): "The Employment Effects of Active Social Policy", Institute for the Study of Labor Discussion Paper No. 736.

- Caliendo, Marco (2006): "Microeconometric Evaluation of Labour Market Policies", Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems No. 568, Springer, Berlin.
- Caliendo, Marco, Reinhard Hujer, and Stephan Thomsen (2005a): "The Employment Effect of Job Creation Schemes in Germany: A Microeconometric Evaluation", Institute for the Study of Labor Discussion Paper, 1512, Bonn.
- Caliendo, Marco, Reinhard Hujer, and Stephan Thomsen (2005b): "Individual Employment Effects of Job Creation Schemes in Germany with Respect to Sectoral Heterogeneity", Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung Discussion Paper No 13/2005, Nürnberg.
- Caliendo, Marco, and Sabine Kopeinig (2006): "Some Practical Guidance for the Implementation of Propensity Score Matching", forthcoming in *Journal of Economic Surveys*.
- Calmfors, Lars (1994): "Active Labour Market Policy and Unemployment A Framework for the Analysis of Crucial Design Features", OECD Labour Market and Social Policy Occasional Paper No. 15, Paris.
- Calmfors, Lars, Anders Forslund, and Maria Hemström (2002): "Does Active Labour Market Policy Work? Lessons from the Swedish Experiences", Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation Working Paper 2002: 4.
- Federal Employment Agency (2005): "Arbeitshilfe zur Umsetzung von Arbeitsgelegenheiten nach § 16 Abs. 3 SGB II" (as at 2nd September 2005).
- Federal Employment Agency (2006): "Sozialgesetzbuch Zweites Buch Grundsicherung für Arbeitsuchende, Jahresbericht 2005: Zahlen, Daten, Fakten", Nürnberg.
- Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affaires (2005): "Merkblatt zur Fortsetzung der Bund-Länder-Initiative zur Bekämpfung der Langzeitarbeitslosigkeit Älterer durch Förderung von bis zu dreijährigen Zusatzjobs (29th Dezember 2005)".
- Gerfin, Michael, and Michael Lechner (2001): "A Microeconometric Evaluation of the Active Labour Market Policy in Switzerland", *The Economic Journal*, 112(482), 854-893.
- Gueron, Judith M., and Edward Pauly (1991): "From Welfare To Work", New York.
- Hagen, Tobias, and Viktor Steiner (2000): "Von der Finanzierung der Arbeitslosigkeit zur Förderung von Arbeit. Analysen und Empfehlungen zur Arbeitsmarktpolitik in Deutschland", ZEW Wirtschaftsanalysen, 51, Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft, Baden-Baden.
- Heckman, James, Hidehiko Ichimura, Jeffrey Smith, and Petra Todd (1998): "Characterizing Selection Bias Using Experimental Data", *Econometrica*, 66(5), 1017-1098.
- Heckman, James, Richard LaLonde, and Jeffrey Smith (1999): "The Economics and Econometrics of Active Labor Market Programmes", in *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Volume III, ed. By O. Ashenfelter, and D. Card: 1865-2097. Amsterdam, North Holland.
- Heinemann, Sarah, Hermann Gartner, and Eva Jozwiak (2006): "Arbeitsförderung für Langzeitarbeitslose. Erste Befunde zu Eingliederungsleistungen des SGB III im Rechtskreis SGB II", Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung Forschungsbericht Nr. 3/2006, Nürnberg.

- Hohmeyer, Katrin, Christoph Schöll, and Joachim Wolff (2006): "Arbeitsgelegenheiten in der Entgeltvariante. Viele Zielgruppen werden noch vernachlässigt", Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung Forschungsbericht Nr. 22/2006, Nürnberg.
- Jacobi, Lena, and Jochen Kluve (2007): "Before and After the Hartz Reforms: The Performance of Active Labour Market Policy in Germany", Institute for the Study of Labor Discussion Paper, 2100, Bonn.
- Kempken, Jürgen, and Achim Trube (1997): "Effektivität und Effizienz sozialorientierter Hilfen zur Arbeit. Lokale Analysen aktivierender Sozialhilfe", Lit Verlag, Münster.
- Lissenburgh, Stephen (2001): "New Deal for the Long-term Unemployed Pilots: Quantitative Evaluation Using Stage 2 Survey", Employment Service Report ESR 81, Sheffield.
- Lodemel, Ivar (2000): "Work Integration through Obligations to Work", Paper presented at the UWWCLUS Workshop Brussels.
- Lodemel, Ivar (2005): "Workfare", CESifo Dice Report 2/2005.
- Ochel, Wolfgang (2004): "Welfare-To-Work Experiences With Specific Work-First Programmes In Selected Countries", CESifo Working Paper No. 1153, Munich.
- Rosenbaum, Paul R., and Donald B. Rubin (1983): "The Central Role of the Propensity Score in Observational Studies for Causal Effects", *Biometrika*, 70(1), 41-55.
- Roy, Andrew D. (1951): "Some Thoughts on The Distribution of Earnings", *Oxford Economic Papers*, 3(2), 135-145.
- Rubin, Donald B. (1974): "Estimating Causal Effects to Treatments in Randomised and Nonrandomised Studies", *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 66(5), 688-701.
- Rüb, Felix, and Daniel Werner (2007): "Typisierung von SGB II-Trägern", Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung Forschungsbericht Nr. 1/2007, Nürnberg.
- Sianesi, Barbara (2004): "An Evaluation of the Swedish System of Active Labour Programmes in the 1990s", *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 86(1), 133-155.
- Trube, Achim (1994): "Fiskalische und soziale Aspekte kommunaler Arbeitsmarktpolitik - Eine vergleichende Analyse sozioökonomischer Effekte von Arbeitslosigkeit und Beschäftigungsförderung vor Ort", *Arbeit und Sozialpolitik*, 7-8/94
- Voges, Wolfgang, Herbert Jacobs, and Heather Trickey (2001): "Uneven Development - Local Authorities and Workfare in Germany", in An Offer you Can't Refuse: Workfare in International Perspective, ed. by Lodemel, Ivar, and Heather Trickey: 71-103. The Policy Press, Bristol, United Kingdom.
- Wolff, Joachim, and Katrin Hohmeyer (2006): "Förderung von arbeitslosen Personen im Rechtskreis des SGB II durch Arbeitsgelegenheiten: Bislang wenig zielgruppenorientiert", Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung Forschungsbericht Nr. 10/2006, Nürnberg.
- Wübbeke, Christina (2007): "Einmal arm, immer arm?", Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung Kurzbericht Nr. 14 /2007, Nürnberg.

## **Tables and figures**

		East Ge	ermany		West Germany					
	Me	en	Won	nen	Me	en	Wo	men		
	Treat-		Treat-		Treat-		Treat-			
	ment	Control	ment	Control	ment	Control	ment	Control		
	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group		
Total sample	21,267	60,513	19,111	51,215	20,968	102,310	9,470	70,990		
Age										
15-24	5,084	4,604	3,339	3,777	4,582	7,716	2,109	6,661		
25-35	3,527	15,029	3,314	11,927	5,023	26,461	2,137	18,679		
36-50	8,735	28,710	8,977	25,027	8,836	47,094	4,148	31,306		
51-62	3,913	12,170	3,474	10,484	2,537	21,039	1,074	14,344		
Nationality										
German	20,241	54,458	18,212	46,213	16,920	73,064	7,881	50,844		
German,										
migrants	414	1,430	347	1,459	1,281	5,948	548	4,229		
Foreigner	597	4,625	546	3,543	-	-	-	-		
former USSR	-	-	-	-	459	2,614	225	3,019		
Turkish <sup>1)</sup>	-	-	-	-	881	8,383	280	4,910		
other foreigners	-	-	-	-	1,413	12,142	520	7,772		
Qualification										
no qualification	6,513	18,470	4,529	16,047	12,238	57,297	5,159	45,208		
apprenticeship	14,019	39,150	13,293	32,172	8,053	40,098	3,692	21,882		
higher	730	2,893	1,284	2,996	681	4,915	618	3,900		
Unemployment rate <sup>2)</sup>										
low	5,798	10,289	4,663	8,979	5,722	27,163	2,439	18,448		
intermediate1	5,009	20,657	4,349	15,959	4,882	16,073	2,248	11,145		
intermediate2	4,795	12,403	4,701	10,871	5,145	25,631	2,210	17,361		
high	5,656	17,164	5,385	15,406	5,213	33,443	2,556	24,036		
Last regular job in										
2004	2,929	9,052	1,844	4,792	3,958	15,562	1,596	9,082		
2001-2003	7,247	20,244	4,622	12,158	8,967	43,028	3,616	22,286		
1992-2000	7,826	24,155	8,977	23,727	4,664	28,365	1,810	15,335		
<1992 or never	3,259	7,062	3,652	10,538	3,368	15,355	2,445	24,287		

#### Table 1: Sample sizes of treated and potential controls

1) Only persons aged younger than 58 years.

	East Germany				West G	-	
	Men		Wome	n	Men	Wome	en
Age in years			(refe	renc	e is 15-19)		
21-24	-0.004		0.028		-0.052 *	0.005	
25-30	-0.889	***	-0.680	***	-0.613 ***	-0.446	***
31-35	-0.790	***	-0.598	***	-0.613 ***	-0.446	***
36-40	-0.770	***	-0.577	***	-0.613 ***	-0.407	***
41-45	-0.717	***	-0.577	***	-0.613 ***	-0.366	***
46-50	-0.717	***	-0.545	***	-0.627 ***	-0.453	***
51-57	-0.761	***	-0.596	***	-0.750 ***	-0.575	***
58-62	-0.980	***	-0.823	***	-1.024 ***	-0.903	***
Health			(referenc	e is i	no impairment)		
Impairment of health	-0.048	***	-0.049	***	-0.057 ***	-0.053	***
Disability			-0.056	*	-0.056 ***	-0.047	
Nationality	(refe	erenc	e is Germ	an, r	o migration bac	kground)	
German with migration background	-0.145	***	-0.192	***	-0.118 ***	-0.115	***
Turkish	-0.426	***	-0.373	***	-0.340 ***	-0.274	***
Soviet Union	-0.077	**	-0.028		-0.143 ***	-0.274	***
other foreigners	-0.365	***	-0.260	***	-0.264 ***	-0.209	***
Partner and children							
No partner	-0.006		0.029		0.020	0.209	***
Partner, not married	-0.016				-0.001	0.159	***
One child	-0.003		0.054	***	-0.023 *	0.004	
Two children	0.024		0.079	***	-0.025 *	-0.004	
Three and more children	-0.032		0.049	**	-0.001	0.000	
	(refere	nce i	s no secoi	ndary	schooling deg	ree/no voo	:a-
Education			tic	onal t	raining)		
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.026		0.111	***	0.004	0.070	***
Secondary school, vocational education	0.050	***	0.172	***	-0.015	0.105	***
GCSE, no vocational training	-0.019		0.112	***	-0.015	0.076	***
GCSE, vocational training	0.006		0.184	***	-0.015	0.076	***
A-levels, no vocational training	-0.052		-0.007		-0.125 ***	0.076	***
A-levels, vocational training	0.034		0.176	***	-0.044 *	0.076	***
A-levels, college	-0.032		0.090	***	-0.140 ***	0.076	***
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2004 to 01/2005		(	reference	is ze	ro to six monthe	S)	
7 to 9 months	0.107	***	0.159	***	0.088 ***	0.129	***
10 to 12 months	0.135	***	0.131	***	0.088 ***	0.129	***
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2000 to 01/2004			(referen	ce is	zero months)		
1 to 6 months	0.129	***	0.047	*	0.156 ***	0.089	***
7 to 12 months	0.129	***	0.047	*	0.156 ***	0.125	***
13 to 18 months	0.129	***	0.080	**	0.156 ***	0.125	***
19 to 24 months	0.163	***	0.080	**	0.156 ***	0.157	***
25 to 30 months	0.126	***	0.112	***	0.156 ***	0.157	***
31 to 36 months	0.082	**	0.081	**	0.123 ***	0.107	***
37 to 48 months	0.051		0.040		0.123 ***	0.138	***
Out-of-labour force during last year	-0.061	***	-0.049	***	-0.039 ***	-0.066	***

## Table 2: Probit coefficients of One-Euro-Job participation equation

43 to 60 months

#### East Germany West Germany Men Women Men Women Cum. dur. neither empl. nor job-seeker nor UB (reference is zero months) receipt (proxy for out-of-the labour force), 01/2000 to 12/2004 -0.069 \*\*\* -0.054 \*\*\* -0.037 \*\* 1 to 6 months -0.062 \*\*\* -0.098 \*\*\* \*\*\* 7 to 12 months -0.069 \*\*\* -0.095 \*\*\* -0.104 -0.055 \*\*\* -0.104 \*\*\* -0.095 \*\*\* \*\*\* 13 to 18 months -0.073 -0.095 \*\*\* -0.055 \*\*\* -0.054 \*\* 19 to 24 months -0.030 25 to 30 months -0.105 \*\*\* -0.054 \*\* -0.095 \*\*\* -0.030 -0.105 \*\*\* 31 to 36 months 0.007 0.000 0.038 37 to 42 months -0.027 0.007 0.025 0.038 43 to 60 months -0.082 \*\* -0.017 0.025 0.038 Cum. dur. of UI receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005 -0.045 \*\* -0.053 \*\*\* 1 to 3 months -0.064 \*\*\* -0.053 \*\*\* -0.045 \*\* 4 to 6 months -0.032 7 to 9 months -0.032 -0.087 \*\*\* -0.053 \*\*\* 10 to 12 months -0.032 -0.019 -0.002 Cum. dur. of UI receipt, 02/2000 to 01/2004 1 to 3 months 0.010 0.016 -0.027 -0.033 \*\* 4 to 6 months 0.010 -0.027 7 to 12 months 0.010 -0.008 -0.050 \*\* . 0.059 \*\*\* -0.106 \*\*\* 13 to 18 months 0.063 > 18 months 0.059 \*\*\* -0.029 -0.106 \*\*\* Cum. dur. of UA receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005 (reference is zero months) 1 to 3 months 0.035 -0.047 -0.001 0.084 \*\* 0.084 \*\* 4 to 6 months 0.035 -0.047 -0.043 7 to 9 months -0.040 -0.110 \*\*\* -0.095 \*\*\* 0.024 10 to 12 months -0.040 -0.089 \*\* -0.079 \*\*\* 0.073 Cum. dur. of UA receipt, 02/2000 to 01/2004 (reference is zero months) 1 to 6 months -0.034 \* -0.050 \*\* -0.029 \* 0.009 -0.083 \*\*\* -0.062 \*\* 7 to 12 months -0.034 -0.015 13 to 18 months -0.034 \* -0.119 \*\*\* -0.015 -0.121 \*\*\* \*\*\* -0.034 \* -0.119 \*\*\* 19 to 24 months -0.015 -0.121 -0.119 \*\*\* -0.060 \*\*\* \*\*\* 25 to 30 months -0.034 -0.121 -0.060 \*\*\* -0.182 \*\*\* 31 to 36 months -0.034 \* -0.159 \*\*\* -0.159 \*\*\* -0.060 \*\*\* \*\*\* -0.034 \* -0.233 37 to 42 months -0.087 \*\*\* -0.159 \*\*\* -0.139 \*\*\* \*\*\* 43 to 48 months -0.270 UI ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004 -0.093 \*\*\* 0.098 \*\*\* UA ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004 0.051 \*\* 0.208 \*\*\* 0.076 \*\*\* 0.068 Cumulated dur. of regular employment, 01/2000 to 12/2004 (reference is zero months) 1 to 6 months 0.023 0.032 \* 0.080 \*\*\* 0.025 -0.011 0.063 \*\*\* -0.018 7 to 12 months -0.018 0.063 \*\*\* 13 to 18 months -0.050 \*\* -0.065 \*\*\* -0.018 -0.080 \*\*\* -0.150 \*\*\* -0.086 \*\* 19 to 24 months 0.037 -0.140 \*\*\* \*\*\* 25 to 30 months -0.150 \*\*\* 0.037 -0.128 -0.234 \*\*\* -0.128 \*\*\* 31 to 36 months -0.150 \*\*\* 0.037 -0.178 \*\*\* -0.150 \*\*\* -0.128 \*\*\* 37 to 42 months 0.037

-0.323 \*\*\*

-0.326 \*\*\*

-0.085 \*\*

-0.243 \*\*\*

	East Germany			West Germany				
	Men		Wome	n	Men		Wome	n
Interaction terms with age below 25 years								
< 25 with vocational training	-		-0.131	***	-		-	
< 25, <= 12 months not in labour force in the last 5 years	-		0.077		-		-	
< 25, 12 to 24 months not in labour force in the last 5 years	-		0.219	***	0.025		-	
< 25, > 24 months not in labour force in the last 5 years	-		0.219	***	-0.046		-	
< 25, 0 up to 12 months regular employment	-		-0.119	***	-0.134	***	-0.068	**
< 25, > 12 months regular employment	-		-0.119	***	-0.134	***	-0.068	**
< 25, > 1 year of unemployment in the last 5 years	-0.090	***	-		-		-	
ALMP participation in last five years (yes)								
Job creation schemes	0.074	***	0.093	***	0.153	***	0.143	***
Private employment subsidy	-0.112	***	-0.140	***	-0.075	***	-0.069	**
Further vocational training	0.014		0.029	**	0.017		0.052	***
Retraining	-0.029		-0.043		-		-	
Short-term training (classroom)	-0.015		-0.022		0.034	***	0.018	
Short-term training (practical)	-0.029	*	-0.024		0.022		0.043	*
Other short-term training	0.044		-		0.041		0.045	
Startup subsidy	-0.183	***	-0.217	***	-0.204	***	-0.241	***
Private placement service (§37), some tasks of pla- cement	-		-0.107	***	-0.032	*	-0.070	***
Private placement service (§37), all tasks of place-								
ment	-		-0.033		-0.035	*	-0.057	**
Other ALMP	0.158	***	0.108	***	0.163	***	0.169	***
Time since end of last ALMP			(reference	e is up	o to 12 mo	nths)		
13 to 24 months	-		-0.070	***	-0.011		-0.033	*
> 24 months	-		0.029	**	0.044	***	0.038	*
ALMP in last year	0.059	***	0.121	***	0.067	***	0.101	***
Number of ALMP participations in the last five years	(	refer	ence is no	prog	ramme pa	articipa	ation)	
One	0.077	***	0.101	***	0.089	***	0.065	***
Тwo	0.136	***	0.178	***	0.120	***	0.119	***
Three	0.160	***	0.178	***	0.174	***	0.119	***
Four	0.160	***	0.213	***	0.174	***	0.177	***
Five and more	0.160	***	0.213	***	0.236	***	0.262	***
Industry of last contributory job		(re	eference is	s othe	er manufa	cturing	<b>a</b> )	
Job with missing sector	-0.043	,	-0.111	***	-0.010		-0.021	
Agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining, energy and water supply	0.018		-0.111	***	0.198	***	-0.021	
Food and tobacco	0.018		-0.111	***	0.006		-0.021	
Wood, paper, publishing, printing	0.018		-0.048		0.006		-0.021	
Chemical industry, engineering, vehical construction	0.018		0.077		0.006		-0.021	
Construction	-0.084	***	-0.133	***	0.006		0.049	
Wholesale trade and car sales	-0.084	***	-0.026		-0.044	***	-0.050	
Retail trade and hotels/restaurants	-0.084	***	-0.162	***	-0.044	***	-0.016	
Transport and communication	-0.023		-0.094	**	-0.044	***	-0.016	
Services for companies	-0.023		-0.035		0.044	**	0.035	
Public adminstration, defense, social security agen-	0.023	***	0.000	***	0.201	***	0.000	***
Education	-0.002		-0.014		0.291	***	0.170	***
	-0.003	***	-0.014	**	0.10/	***	0.170	***
	0.116	 **	0.062		0.228	***	0.170	**
Uther services	0.052	~ *	0.003		0.103	~ ~ <del>*</del>	0.069	~ ~

	East Germany			We	West German			
	Men		Wome	n	Men		Wome	n
Last professional status		(	reference	is blu	e-collar w	orker)		
Skilled worker / foreman	-0.043	***	-0.002		-0.055	***	-0.038	
White-collar worker	-0.043	***	-0.002		-0.111	***	-0.081	***
Part-time	-0.031	**	0.024	*	-0.010		-0.045	***
No job yet	0.097	**	-0.130	***	0.036		-0.018	
Size of last establishment		(r	eference	is 1 to	20 emplo	oyees)	)	
21 to 50 employees	0.011		0.038	**	0.046	***	0.037	**
51 to 100 employees	0.011		-0.007		0.064	***	0.075	***
101 to 200 employees	0.011		-0.007		0.034	***	0.039	**
201 to 400 employees	0.025		-0.007		0.034	***	0.039	**
> 400 employees	-0.033	**	-0.007		0.034	***	0.039	**
Missing	-0.006		-0.007		-0.012		-0.014	
Last monthly real wage (deflated with CPI, 2000=100)			(refe	rence	is 0 Euro)	)		
>0 to 500 Euro	0.087	**	0.040		0.126	***	0.109	***
>500 to 1000 Euro	0.152	***	0.073	***	0.162	***	0.109	***
>1000 to 1500 Euro	0.126	***	0.098	***	0.162	***	0.109	***
>1500 to 2000 Euro	0.083	***	0.032		0.094	***	0.109	***
> 2000 Euro	0.015		-0.006		0.038	*	0.024	
Time since end of last contributory job		(	reference	is one	e to six mo	onths)		
7 to 12 months	0.029		0.011		0.001		-0.007	
13 to 24 months	0.076	***	0.011		0.001		-0.007	
25 to 36 months	0.076	***	-0.036		0.001		-0.007	
37 to 48 months	0.023		-0.036		-0.028		-0.063	**
> 48 months	0.023		-0.036		-0.066	***	-0.063	**
Average duration of contributory jobs between 01/2000 and 12/2004		(refe	erence is l	ess th	nan seven	mont	hs)	
7 to 12 months	0.042	***	0.015		0.004		0.012	
13 to 18 months	0.042	***	0.046	**	-0.043	***	0.012	
19 to 24 months	0.042	***	0.080	***	-0.043	***	0.012	
25 to 36 months	0.017		0.080	***	-0.043	***	-0.051	
37 to 60 months	0.102	**	0.080	***	-0.037		-0.051	
Number of contributory jobs in last five years			(refe	rence	is no job)			
One	-0.003		-0.035		-0.086	***	-0.045	
Two	0.035		0.038		-0.086	***	-0.045	
Three	0.035		0.078	*	-0.086	***	0.008	
Four or more	0.035		0.078	*	-0.086	***	0.008	
Minor employment, Jan. 31st 2005	-0.294	***	-0.349	***	-0.279	***	-0.318	***
Partner information								
Partner was unemployed between 01/2000 to 12/2004 for			(referen	ce is a	zero mont	hs)		
1 to 12 months	0.052	**	0.004		-		-	
13 to 24 months	0.052	**	0.044	*	-		-	
25 to 30 months	0.052	**	0.044	*	-		-	
31 to 36 months	0.095	***	0.016		-		-	
37 to 42 months	0.005		0.016		-		-	
43 to 60 months	0.005		-0.033		-		-	

	Ea	ermany		We	est Ge	ermany			
	Men		Wome	n	Men		Wome	n	
Partner not empl. or job-seeker in the last 5 years for			(referen	ce is :	zero mont	hs)			
1 to 12 months	-0.047	***	-0.036	**	-0.013		-		
13 to 24 months	-0.047	***	-0.067	**	0.026		-		
25 to 30 months	-0.047	***	-0.007		0.086	***	-		
31 to 36 months	-0.047	***	-0.098	***	0.086	***	-		
37 to 42 months	-0.047	***	-0.098	***	0.086	***	-		
43 to 60 months	-0.047	***	-0.098	***	0.086	***	-		
	(refere	nce is	s no secor	ndary	schooling	degr	ee/no voc	a-	
Partner education			tic	onal tr	aining)				
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.017		-		-0.004		0.000		
Secondary school, vocational education	0.017		-		-0.004		0.044		
GCSE or A-levels, vocational education or college	-0.011		-		-0.004		-0.018		
Missing: no partner IEB identifier	0.040		-		-0.117	***	-0.097	***	
Missing for other reasons	-0.029		-		-0.077	***	-0.097	***	
Regional variables (district level)									
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	-0.009	***	-0.007	***	0.015	***	0.025	***	
%age change in local unempl. rate in January 2005	-0.005	***	-0.007	***	-0.007	***	-0.007	***	
Percentage of long-term-unemployment (LTU) in Jan. 2005	-		0.003	**	-0.006	***	-0.006	***	
%age change of percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	-0.009	***	-0.013	***	-0.003	***	-		
Vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	3.678	***	3.479	***	-0.344	**	-		
%age change vacancy-unempl. ratio in Jan. 2005	-		0.000	*	0.000	*	0.000		
Classification of region (according to Rüb, et al. 2007)	(reference is cities with below average lab. market cond./high long-term unemployment)								
Cities in West Germany with average labour market (LM) conditions	-		-		0.216	***	0.232	***	
Cities in West G. with above-average LM conditions	-		-		0.331	***	0.320	***	
Urban areas with average LM cond.	0.516	***	0.407	***	0.159	***	0.165	***	
Rural areas in West G. with average LM conditions	-		-		0.306	***	0.346	***	
Rural areas with below average LM conditions	0.251	***	0.222	***	0.139	***	0.207	***	
Rural areas in W. G. with above average LM condi- tions and high seasonal dynamics	-		-		0.594	***	0.477	***	
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond., sea- sonal dynamics and low LTU	-		-		0.449	***	0.354	***	
Rural areas in W.G., very fav. LM cond. & low LTU	-		-		0.449	***	0.412	***	
Rural areas in East G. with severe LM conditions	0.179	***	0.126	***	-		-		
Rural areas in East G. with very severe LM conditions	0.073	***	0.051	**	-		-		
Uther			0.005	***			0.400	***	
Looking for part-time job	-	ية. ية. ية.	-0.065	***	-	<b>4 4 4</b>	-0.103	***	
	-1.134	• * *	-1.426	• * *	-1.574	• **	-2.191		
Number of observations	81781		/0327	, 	12329	1	80464	•	
Log of the Likelihood	-18309	.8	-16527	.2	-18826	.1	-8873.	1	
Pseudo-R2	0.076	j	0.068		0.080		0.085		

	East Germany				West Germany				
	Me	n	Wom	en	Me	n	Wom	ien	
	before	after	before	after	before	after	before	after	
	match	ning	match	matching		matching		matching	
Total sample	7.9	0.4	7.0	0.4	9.6	0.3	11.0	0.5	
Age									
15-24	10.4	0.8	11.0	1.2	9.3	1.0	15.8	1.3	
25-35	8.8	0.7	10.1	0.5	7.6	0.5	12.1	0.9	
36-50	7.2	0.4	8.4	0.4	7.3	0.5	10.9	0.8	
51-62	9.9	0.7	11.0	0.7	12.1	0.9	13.0	1.2	
Nationality									
German	7.6	0.4	6.6	0.4	9.3	0.4	10.3	0.6	
German, migrants	9.1	2.1	11.1	2.5	13.5	1.0	12.6	1.8	
Foreigner	15.0	2.6	15.8	4.1	-	-	-	-	
former USSR	-	-	-	-	13.2	2.0	17.6	3.4	
Turkish <sup>3)</sup>	-	-	-	-	13.3	1.3	22.9	2.3	
Other foreigners	-	-	-	-	10.6	1.1	15.7	1.7	
Qualification									
no qualification	10.8	0.7	9.4	0.8	9.2	0.5	13.0	0.7	
apprenticeship	8.0	0.5	6.7	0.4	8.5	0.5	8.7	0.7	
higher	11.9	2.2	10.5	1.2	9.7	1.2	12.1	1.2	
Unemployment rate <sup>4)</sup>									
low	8.7	0.9	7.7	0.9	10.2	0.7	11.6	0.9	
intermediate1	11.3	0.6	10.7	0.8	8.2	0.6	12.2	0.8	
intermediate2	9.0	0.8	8.1	1.0	12.6	0.7	14.4	1.0	
high	8.7	0.9	7.8	0.7	10.2	0.7	13.2	0.9	
Last regular job in									
2004	13.4	1.1	10.3	1.2	9.9	0.6	10.5	1.0	
2001-2003	7.7	0.5	6.8	0.6	7.9	0.4	7.9	0.7	
1992-2000	8.8	0.5	8.5	0.5	10.7	0.6	10.5	0.9	
<1992 or never	17.4	1.3	15.3	1.0	15.2	0.9	16.9	1.0	

 Table 3:
 Standardised absolute bias<sup>1),2)</sup>

1) Results from nearest neighbour matching with replacement (5 neighbours).

2) Standardised Bias:  $100 \cdot (\overline{X}_{treat} - \overline{X}_{controls}) / \sqrt{0.5 \cdot [V_{treat}(X) + V_{controls}(X)]}$ .

3) Only persons aged younger than 58 years.

4) Unemployment rate in January 2005 (district level); low East G. "<=21%", low West G. "<=10.5%", intermediate1 East G. "21-22%", intermediate1 West G. "10.5-

12%",intermediate2 East G. "22-23.5%", intermediate2 West G. "12-14.5%", high East G. ">23.5%", high West G. ">14.5%".

Control variables

Age in years 21-24

25-30

31-35

36-40

tch quality for covariates - n	nen Ea	st Gern	nany			
<u>-</u>				P-value of	t-test	
				on difference	between	
		Averages	treated and controls			
	Matched	All	Matched	before	after	
	treated	controls	controls	matchi	ng	
	0.191	0.055	0.189	0.000	0.575	
	0.085	0.134	0.085	0.000	0.752	
	0.080	0.114	0.081	0.000	0.820	
	0.112	0.149	0.113	0.000	0.783	
	0.298	0.325	0.302	0.000	0.445	
	0.173	0.182	0.176	0.006	0.579	
	0.011	0.019	0.010	0.000	0.440	
	0.122	0.140	0.123	0.000	0.687	
	0.020	0.024	0.019	0.001	0.747	
n background	0.007	0.024	0.006	0.000	0.364	
	0.011	0.015	0.012	0.000	0.689	
	0.044	0.007	0.040	0.000	0 404	

41-50	0.298	0.325	0.302	0.000	0.445
51-57	0.173	0.182	0.176	0.006	0.579
58-62	0.011	0.019	0.010	0.000	0.440
Health					
Impairment of health	0.122	0.140	0.123	0.000	0.687
Nationality					
Disability	0.020	0.024	0.019	0.001	0.747
German with migration background	0.007	0.024	0.006	0.000	0.364
Turkish	0.011	0.015	0.012	0.000	0.689
Other foreigners	0.011	0.037	0.010	0.000	0.424
Partner and children					
No partner	0.637	0.587	0.638	0.000	0.897
Partner, not married	0.114	0.115	0.113	0.567	0.774
One child	0.116	0.133	0.117	0.000	0.753
Two children	0.070	0.079	0.071	0.000	0.716
Three and more children	0.029	0.039	0.029	0.000	0.669
Vocational education					
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.132	0.117	0.133	0.000	0.664
Secondary school, vocational education	0.327	0.291	0.327	0.000	0.972
GCSE, no vocational training	0.048	0.046	0.048	0.111	0.899
GCSE, vocational training	0.329	0.353	0.333	0.000	0.387
A-levels, no vocational training	0.006	0.010	0.006	0.000	0.740
A-levels, vocational training	0.020	0.024	0.020	0.002	0.709
A-levels, college	0.018	0.028	0.017	0.000	0.825
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2004 to 01/2005					
7 to 9 months	0.182	0.143	0.183	0.000	0.748
10 to 12 months	0.682	0.706	0.686	0.000	0.312
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2000 to 01/2004					
13 to 18 months	0.308	0.267	0.306	0.000	0.621
19 to 24 months	0.136	0.120	0.137	0.000	0.801
25 to 30 months	0.141	0.129	0.141	0.000	0.793
31 to 36 months	0.140	0.139	0.143	0.534	0.420
37 to 48 months	0.237	0.293	0.239	0.000	0.639
Neither empl. nor job-seeker nor unemployment benefit receipt					
Out-of-labour force during last year	0.194	0.212	0.191	0.000	0.379
Cum. dur. neither empl. nor job-seeker nor unemployment benefit					
receipt (proxy for out-of-the labour force), 01/2000 to 12/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.249	0.284	0.251	0.000	0.786
7 to 12 months	0.107	0.092	0.106	0.000	0.619
13 to 24 months	0.087	0.077	0.086	0.000	0.576
25 to 36 months	0.052	0.049	0.052	0.077	0.730
37 to 42 months	0.024	0.022	0.024	0.021	0.599
43 to 60 months	0.050	0.056	0.047	0.002	0.153

## Table 4 continued: Match quality for covariates - men East Germany

	P-value of t					
		on difference				
		Averages		treated and contro		
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after	
	treated	controls	controls	match	ing	
Cum. dur. of UI receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005						
1 to 3 months	0.073	0.066	0.073	0.001	0.967	
4 to 12 months	0.174	0.148	0.172	0.000	0.588	
Cum. dur. of UI receipt, 02/2000 to 01/2004						
1 to 12 months	0.557	0.523	0.556	0.000	0.967	
> 12 months	0.202	0.176	0.206	0.000	0.307	
Cum. dur. of UA receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005						
1 to 6 months	0.209	0.157	0.209	0.000	0.987	
7 to 12 months	0.625	0.647	0.630	0.000	0.283	
Cum. dur. of UA receipt, 02/2000 to 01/2004						
1 to 42 months	0.631	0.608	0.637	0.000	0.219	
43 to 48 months	0.075	0.114	0.076	0.000	0.918	
UI ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0.033	0.046	0.032	0.000	0.590	
UA ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0.800	0.774	0.805	0.000	0.219	
Cumulated dur. of regular employment, 01/2000 to 12/2004						
1 to 6 months	0.198	0.166	0.198	0.000	0.944	
7 to 12 months	0.116	0.105	0.116	0.000	0.820	
13 to 18 months	0.107	0.107	0.107	0.993	0.913	
19 to 24 months	0.052	0.058	0.052	0.004	0.913	
25 to 30 months	0.037	0.046	0.037	0.000	0.806	
31 to 36 months	0.021	0.034	0.020	0.000	0.470	
37 to 42 months	0.015	0.022	0.015	0.000	0.768	
43 to 60 months	0.010	0.027	0.009	0.000	0.316	
Interaction terms with age below 25 years						
under 25, more than 12 months unemployment	0.098	0.028	0.096	0.000	0.540	
ALMP participation in last five years (yes)						
Job creation schemes	0.359	0.249	0.365	0.000	0.190	
Private employment subsidy	0.092	0.101	0.091	0.000	0.701	
Further vocational training	0.243	0.204	0.244	0.000	0.858	
Retraining	0.040	0.041	0.042	0.660	0.394	
Short-term training (classroom)	0.346	0.304	0.346	0.000	0.954	
Short-term training (practical)	0.113	0.096	0.115	0.000	0.415	
Other short-term training	0.030	0.015	0.030	0.000	0.670	
Startup subsidy	0.014	0.025	0.014	0.000	0.895	
Other ALMP	0.100	0.051	0.097	0.000	0.252	
ALMP during last year	0.430	0.303	0.429	0.000	0.758	

#### 41

## Table 4 continued: Match quality for covariates - men East Germany

				P-value of	t-test
				on difference	between
		Averages		treated and	controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	matchi	ng
Number of ALMP participations in the last five years					
One	0.264	0.274	0.265	0.005	0.831
Тwo	0.248	0.208	0.249	0.000	0.748
Three or more	0.302	0.219	0.303	0.000	0.793
Industry of last contributory job					
Job with missing sector Agric./forestry/fishing, mining/energy/water supply, food, tobacco, wood, paper, publishing, printing, chemical ind., engineering,	0.071	0.127	0.072	0.000	0.735
vehical industry	0.100	0.087	0.098	0.000	0.483
Construction, wholesale trade, retail trade and hotels/restaurants	0.176	0.239	0.177	0.000	0.786
Transport and communication, Services for companies	0.159	0.165	0.160	0.033	0.741
Public adminstration, defense, social security agencies	0.079	0.049	0.080	0.000	0.634
Education	0.070	0.051	0.070	0.000	0.811
Health care, veterinarian and social services	0.041	0.027	0.041	0.000	0.981
Other services	0.135	0.111	0.137	0.000	0.715
Last professional status					
Skilled worker / foreman, White-collar worker	0.333	0.406	0.333	0.000	0.982
Part-time	0.201	0.160	0.202	0.000	0.802
No job yet	0.123	0.098	0.119	0.000	0.189
Size of last establishment					
21 to 200 employees	0.386	0.358	0.391	0.000	0.275
2001 to 400 employees	0.126	0.102	0.125	0.000	0.828
> 400 employees	0.104	0.114	0.105	0.000	0.902
Missing	0.035	0.045	0.035	0.000	0.899
Last monthly real wage (defined with CPI, 2000=100)					
>0 to 500 Euro	0.048	0.046	0.049	0.169	0.932
>500 to 1000 Euro	0.310	0.246	0.307	0.000	0.548
>1000 to 1500 Euro	0.358	0.365	0.365	0.078	0.143
>1500 to 2000 Euro	0.103	0.144	0.104	0.000	0.894
> 2000 Euro	0.039	0.070	0.038	0.000	0.621
Time since end of last contributory job					
7 to 12 months	0.106	0.084	0.104	0.000	0.571
13 to 36 months	0.343	0.301	0.346	0.000	0.600
>36 months	0.286	0.385	0.291	0.000	0.253
Average duration of contributory jobs between 01/2000 and 12/2004					
7 to 24 months	0.440	0.403	0.442	0.000	0.722
25 to 36 months	0.023	0.034	0.023	0.000	0.680
37 to 60 months	0.010	0.019	0.010	0.000	0.448
Number of jobs in last five years					
One	0.428	0.402	0.427	0.000	0.858
two or more	0.336	0.314	0.339	0.000	0.595
Minor employment, Jan. 31st 2005	0.045	0.086	0.045	0.000	0.708

			P-value of t-test			
				on difference between		
		Averages		treated and	d controls	
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after	
	treated	controls	controls	match	ning	
Partner information						
Partner was unemployed between 01/2000 to 12/2004 for						
1 to 30 months	0.142	0.157	0.141	0.000	0.672	
31 to 36 months	0.023	0.025	0.023	0.209	0.995	
37 to 60 months	0.113	0.131	0.114	0.000	0.838	
Partner not empl. or job-seeker in the last 5 years for						
25 to 60 months	0.227	0.271	0.226	0.000	0.810	
Partner education						
Secondary school, with and without vocational education	0.103	0.107	0.103	0.105	0.921	
GCSE or A-levels, vocational education or college	0.102	0.117	0.101	0.000	0.820	
no ieb_konto_id	0.046	0.052	0.047	0.001	0.804	
Missing	0.079	0.093	0.078	0.000	0.860	
Regional variables (district level)						
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	22.634	22.967	22.613	0.000	0.566	
%age change in local unempl. rate in January 2005	8.217	8.337	8.199	0.001	0.686	
%age change of percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	-3.067	-2.962	-3.007	0.028	0.299	
Vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.410	0.736	
Urban areas with average labour amrket cond.	0.019	0.007	0.018	0.000	0.328	
Rural areas with below average LM conditions	0.129	0.082	0.130	0.000	0.858	
Rural areas in East Germany with severe LM conditions	0.367	0.298	0.369	0.000	0.728	
Rural areas in East Germany with very severe LM conditions	0.149	0.167	0.146	0.000	0.507	

## Table 4 continued: Match quality for covariates - men East Germany

43

				P-value of t-test		
				on difference	between	
		Averages		treated and o	controls	
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after	
	treated	controls	controls	matchir	ng	
Age in years						
21-24	0.130	0.050	0.126	0.000	0.241	
25-30	0.073	0.110	0.076	0.000	0.240	
31-35	0.101	0.123	0.100	0.000	0.865	
36-45	0.318	0.338	0.319	0.000	0.923	
46-50	0.152	0.151	0.151	0.808	0.833	
51-57	0.174	0.190	0.178	0.000	0.394	
58-62	0.008	0.014	0.008	0.000	0.953	
Health						
Impairment of health	0.079	0.094	0.079	0.000	1.000	
Disability	0.024	0.026	0.024	0.297	0.794	
Nationality						
German with migration background	0.018	0.028	0.019	0.000	0.855	
Turkish	0.005	0.018	0.004	0.000	0.536	
Soviet Union	0.015	0.021	0.015	0.000	0.905	
Other foreigners	0.009	0.030	0.009	0.000	0.442	
Partner and children						
No partner	0.571	0.520	0.564	0.000	0.184	
One child	0.275	0.267	0.275	0.029	0.896	
Two children	0.178	0.180	0.179	0.479	0.704	
Three and more children	0.063	0.075	0.064	0.000	0.779	
Vocational education						
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.102	0.113	0.105	0.000	0.464	
Secondary school, vocational education	0.223	0.204	0.222	0.000	0.716	
GCSE, no vocational training	0.059	0.062	0.060	0.100	0.616	
GCSE, vocational training	0.494	0.434	0.497	0.000	0.493	
A-levels, no vocational training	0.005	0.008	0.005	0.000	0.814	
A-levels, vocational training	0.026	0.024	0.026	0.094	0.995	
A-levels, college	0.020	0.024	0.019	0.000	0.680	
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2004 to 01/2005						
7 to 9 months	0.165	0.114	0.166	0.000	0.724	
10 to 12 months	0.701	0.714	0.703	0.001	0.719	
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2000 to 01/2004						
1 to 12 months	0.175	0.161	0.176	0.000	0.970	
13 to 24 months	0.205	0.186	0.205	0.000	0.917	
25 to 30 months	0 1 2 2	0 102	0 123	0.000	0.806	
	0.122	0.102	0.120	0.000	0.000	
31 to 36 months	0.134	0.118	0.136	0.000	0.486	
37 to 48 months	0.306	0.349	0.307	0.000	0.852	
Out-of-labour force during last year	0.166	0.209	0.163	0.000	0.428	
Cum. dur. neither empl. nor job-seeker nor unemployment benefit						
receipt (proxy for out-of-the labour force), 01/2000 to 12/2004						
Up to one year	0.222	0.240	0.220	0.000	0.652	
13 to 18 months	0.039	0.046	0.040	0.000	0.591	
19 to 30 months	0.088	0.089	0.088	0.719	0.974	
31 to 48 months	0.064	0.062	0.064	0.305	0.910	
43 to 60 months	0.066	0.087	0.063	0.000	0.234	

## Table 5: Match quality for covariates - women East Germany

## Table 5 continued: Match quality for covariates - women East Germany

	P-value of t-test				t-test
				on difference	between
		Averages		treated and	controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	matchi	ng
Cum. dur. of UI receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005					
1 to 6 months	0.134	0.110	0.132	0.000	0.682
7 to 9 months	0.042	0.036	0.043	0.000	0.697
10 to 12 months	0.023	0.022	0.023	0.352	0.881
Cum. dur. of UI receipt, 02/2000 to 01/2004					
1 to 3 months	0.109	0.106	0.111	0.187	0.567
4 to 6 months	0.170	0.155	0.170	0.000	0.972
7 to 12 months	0.283	0.242	0.283	0.000	0.998
13 to 18 months	0.092	0.066	0.093	0.000	0.708
> 18 months	0.030	0.030	0.031	0.991	0.642
Cum. dur. of UA receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005					
1 to 6 months	0.165	0.119	0.168	0.000	0.398
7 to 9 months	0.091	0.075	0.090	0.000	0.680
10 to 12 months	0.551	0.557	0.552	0.188	0.869
Cum. dur. of UA receipt, 02/2000 to 01/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.079	0.064	0.080	0.000	0.675
7 to 12 months	0.080	0.069	0.079	0.000	0.498
13 to 30 months	0.276	0.242	0.278	0.000	0.708
31 to 60 months	0.286	0.326	0.288	0.000	0.711
UA ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0.783	0.726	0.785	0.000	0.765
Cumulated dur. of regular employment, 01/2000 to 12/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.144	0.121	0.143	0.000	0.775
7 to 12 months	0.082	0.075	0.081	0.001	0.717
13 to 18 months	0.079	0.078	0.081	0.583	0.470
19 to 42 months	0.087	0.100	0.087	0.000	0.957
43 to 60 months	0.008	0.018	0.008	0.000	0.556
Interaction terms with age below 25 years					
under 25, no voc. training	0.067	0.039	0.065	0.000	0.334
under 25, regular employment	0.063	0.023	0.061	0.000	0.422
under 25, out-of-labour force for one year or less	0.036	0.014	0.035	0.000	0.737
under 25, out-of-labour force for more than one year	0.122	0.055	0.117	0.000	0.199
ALMP participation in last five years (yes)					
Job creation schemes	0.356	0.233	0.361	0.000	0.291
Private employment subsidy	0.071	0.075	0.070	0.088	0.728
Further vocational training	0.256	0.203	0.258	0.000	0.718
Retraining	0.036	0.033	0.036	0.060	0.978
Short-term training (classroom)	0.389	0.334	0.389	0.000	0.960
Short-term training (practical)	0.085	0.066	0.084	0.000	0.724
Startup subsidy	0.009	0.013	0.010	0.000	0.736
Private placement service (§37), some tasks of placement	0.032	0.027	0.032	0.000	0.977
Private placement service (§37), all tasks of placement	0.058	0.039	0.058	0.000	0.871
Other ALMP	0.090	0.055	0.091	0.000	0.732

## Table 5 continued: Match quality for covariates - women East Germany

	P-value of t-te				t-test
				on difference	between
		Averages		treated and	controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	matchi	na
Time since and of last ALMP					
12 to 24 months	0 157	0 1 2 1	0 150	0.000	0 707
24 months	0.137	0.121	0.139	0.000	0.707
> 24 months	0.172	0.140	0.173	0.000	0.000
ALMP during last year	0.396	0.272	0.401	0.000	0.406
Number of ALMP participations in the last five years	0.005	0.077	0.000	0.000	0.070
	0.265	0.277	0.269	0.002	0.376
I wo or three	0.415	0.319	0.415	0.000	0.866
Four and more	0.129	0.084	0.130	0.000	0.956
Job with missing sector, agric./forestry/fishing, mining/energy/water supply, food, tobacco industry					
	0.186	0.243	0.185	0.000	0.726
Wood, paper, publishing, printing	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.906	0.919
Chemical industry, engineering, vehical industry	0.005	0.004	0.005	0.067	0.806
Construction	0.023	0.026	0.024	0.029	0.596
Wholesale trade and car sales	0.014	0.015	0.014	0.461	0.651
Retail trade and hotels/restaurants	0.077	0.109	0.077	0.000	0.890
Transport and communication	0.011	0.013	0.011	0.039	0.654
Services for companies	0.085	0.086	0.086	0.484	0.730
Public adminstration, defense, social security agencies	0.102	0.065	0.104	0.000	0.505
Education	0.077	0.057	0.078	0.000	0.906
Health care, veterinarian and social services	0.095	0.068	0.096	0.000	0.925
Other services	0.140	0.110	0.140	0.000	0.976
Last professional status					
Skilled worker / foreman, White-collar worker	0.313	0.323	0.315	0.016	0.733
Part-time	0.334	0.294	0.333	0.000	0.948
No job yet	0.152	0.172	0.150	0.000	0.498
Size of last establishment					
21 to 50 employees	0.116	0.100	0.117	0.000	0.750
> 50 employees or missing	0.537	0.512	0.538	0.000	0.845
Last monthly real wage (defined with CPI, 2000=100)					
>0 to 500 Euro	0.050	0.056	0.049	0.001	0.906
>500 to 1000 Euro	0.343	0.322	0.344	0.000	0.863
>1000 to 1500 Euro	0.350	0.311	0.351	0.000	0.754
>1500 to 2000 Euro	0.053	0.061	0.053	0.000	0.899
> 2000 Euro	0.020	0.029	0.020	0.000	0.960
Time since end of last contributory job	0.020	0.020	0.020	0.000	0.000
7 to 24 months	0.250	0 192	0 251	0.000	0 038
> 24 months	0.230	0.102	0.231	0.000	0.000
7 to 12 months	0.407	0.040	0.407	0.000	0.501
13 to 18 months	0.252	0.137	0.255	0.000	0.301
10 to 60 months	0.133	0.152	0.134	0.000	0.014
Number of jobs in last five years	0.072	0.001	0.072	0.000	0.734
Number of jobs in last live years	0.400	0.000	0.440	0.000	0 004
	0.439	0.399	0.440	0.000	0.601
	0.192	0.152	0.195	0.000	0.502
	0.046	0.037	0.046	0.000	0.996
Minor employment, Jan. 31st 2005	0.080	0.148	0.080	0.000	1.000

Table 5 continued: Match of	quality for covariates	- women East Germany
-----------------------------	------------------------	----------------------

			P-value of t-test			
				on difference betweer		
		Averages		treated and	controls	
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after	
	treated	controls	controls	matchi	ng	
Partner was unemployed between 01/2000 to 12/2004 for						
1 to 12 months	0.076	0.083	0.078	0.004	0.549	
13 to 30 months	0.112	0.112	0.113	0.972	0.923	
31 to 42 months	0.071	0.078	0.073	0.005	0.635	
43 to 60 months	0.083	0.108	0.084	0.000	0.663	
Partner not empl. or job-seeker in the last 5 years for						
1 to 12 months	0.120	0.133	0.120	0.000	0.784	
13 to 12 months	0.026	0.030	0.026	0.003	0.842	
25 to 30 months	0.009	0.010	0.010	0.783	0.924	
31 to 60 months	0.097	0.123	0.099	0.000	0.407	
Regional variables (district level)						
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	22.851	23.041	22.834	0.000	0.662	
%age change in local unempl. rate in January 2005	8.121	8.271	8.097	0.000	0.610	
Percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	39.885	40.143	39.875	0.000	0.837	
%age change of percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	-2.970	-2.655	-2.929	0.000	0.500	
Vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.456	0.901	
%age change vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	-9.823	-10.507	-9.564	0.060	0.574	
Urban areas with average labour amrket cond.	0.016	0.007	0.016	0.000	0.897	
Rural areas with below average LM conditions	0.120	0.085	0.119	0.000	0.712	
Rural areas in East Germany with severe LM conditions	0.360	0.312	0.364	0.000	0.417	
Rural areas in East Germany with very severe LM conditions	0.172	0.179	0.172	0.034	0.985	
Other						
Looking for part-time job	0.046	0.070	0.046	0.000	0.992	

4 to 6 months

7 to 9 months

10 to 12 months

			P-value of t-test on difference be- tween		
		Averages		treated and	l controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	match	ning
Age in years					
21-24	0.160	0.052	0.159	0.000	0.943
25-45	0.537	0.580	0.542	0.000	0.354
46-50	0.123	0.139	0.124	0.000	0.972
51-57	0.114	0.180	0.112	0.000	0.476
58-62	0.007	0.026	0.007	0.000	0.991
Health					
Impairment of health	0.141	0.175	0.141	0.000	0.984
Disability	0.039	0.051	0.040	0.000	0.833
Nationality					
German with migration background	0.061	0.058	0.061	0.096	0.997
Turkish	0.042	0.083	0.042	0.000	0.961
Soviet Union	0.022	0.026	0.022	0.004	0.931
Other foreigners	0.068	0.119	0.068	0.000	0.855
Partner and children					
No partner	0.655	0.591	0.656	0.000	0.759
Partner, not married	0.076	0.066	0.076	0.000	0.950
One child	0.093	0.111	0.093	0.000	0.920
Two children	0.072	0.090	0.073	0.000	0.603
Three and more children	0.050	0.063	0.050	0.000	0.982
Vocational training					
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.306	0.273	0.309	0.000	0.485
Secondary school, vocational education or GCSE	0.413	0.411	0.414	0.606	0.745
A-levels, no vocational training	0.013	0.021	0.013	0.000	0.831
A-levels, vocational training	0.027	0.035	0.027	0.000	0.952
A-levels, college	0.017	0.030	0.018	0.000	0.571
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2004 to 01/2005					
7 to 12 months	0.799	0.811	0.802	0.000	0.501
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2000 to 01/2004					
1 to 30 months	0.667	0.581	0.666	0.000	0.962
31 to 48 months	0.270	0.337	0.272	0.000	0.643
Out-of-labour force during last year	0.295	0.281	0.294	0.000	0.886
Cum. dur. neither empl. nor job-seeker nor unemployment benefit					
receipt (proxy for out-of-the labour force), 01/2000 to 12/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.319	0.335	0.319	0.000	0.975
7 to 30 months	0.261	0.237	0.261	0.000	0.850
31 to 36 months	0.040	0.029	0.041	0.000	0.633
37 to 48 months	0.119	0.113	0.117	0.023	0.513
Cum. dur. of UI receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005					
1 to 9 months	0.226	0.200	0.224	0.000	0.610
10 to 12 months	0.028	0.027	0.028	0.682	0.901
Cum. dur. of UA receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005			-		
1 to 3 months	0.088	0.070	0.088	0.000	0.799

0.111

0.110

0.457

0.090

0.100

0.511

0.110

0.110

0.459

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.607

0.864

0.681

## Table 6: Match quality for covariates - men West Germany

## Table 6 continued: Match quality for covariates - men West Germany

				P-value o on differen wee	f t-test ice bet- n
		Averages		treated and	controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	match	ing
Cum. dur. of UA receipt. 02/2000 to 01/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.128	0.115	0.127	0.000	0.699
7 to 24 months	0.271	0.246	0.272	0.000	0.928
25 to 42 months	0.151	0.166	0.152	0.000	0.740
43 to 48 months	0.069	0.117	0.069	0.000	0.902
UA ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0.728	0.740	0.730	0.000	0.753
Cumulated dur. of regular employment, 01/2000 to 12/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.170	0.132	0.173	0.000	0.448
7 to 18 months	0.258	0.228	0.258	0.000	0.984
19 to 42 months	0.231	0.253	0.230	0.000	0.867
43 to 60 months	0.019	0.030	0.019	0.000	0.776
Interaction terms with age below 25 years					
under 25, regular employment	0.126	0.039	0.125	0.000	0.885
age*noieb (<=24 months)	0.115	0.034	0.115	0.000	0.910
age*noieb (>24 months)	0.093	0.038	0.091	0.000	0.472
ALMP participation in last five years (yes)					
Job creation schemes	0.133	0.059	0.132	0.000	0.798
Private employment subsidy	0.071	0.068	0.071	0.143	0.814
Further vocational training	0.190	0.149	0.190	0.000	0.858
Short-term training (classroom)	0.388	0.303	0.390	0.000	0.683
Short-term training (practical)	0.126	0.084	0.127	0.000	0.678
Other short-term training	0.046	0.016	0.045	0.000	0.526
Startup subsidy	0.021	0.034	0.022	0.000	0.792
Private placement service (§37), some tasks of placement	0.065	0.054	0.065	0.000	0.984
Private placement service (§37), all tasks of placement	0.053	0.040	0.052	0.000	0.793
Other ALMP	0.104	0.052	0.102	0.000	0.644
Time since end of last ALMP					
13 to 24 months	0.159	0.113	0.159	0.000	0.904
> 24 months	0.151	0.122	0.151	0.000	0.954
ALMP during last year	0.401	0.275	0.398	0.000	0.667
Number of ALMP participations in the last five years					
One	0.282	0.278	0.284	0.315	0.551
Тwo	0.204	0.168	0.203	0.000	0.782
Three or four	0.196	0.127	0.195	0.000	0.879
Five and more	0.063	0.032	0.064	0.000	0.575
Industry of last contributory job					
Job with missing sector	0.081	0.144	0.081	0.000	0.923
Agriculture/forestry/fishing, mining/energy/water supply	0.028	0.019	0.029	0.000	0.662
Food and tobacco, wood, paper, publishing, printing, chemical indus- try, engineering, vehical industry construction	0.134	0.157	0.133	0.000	0.722
Wholesale trade and car sales, public adminstration, defense, social security agencies, education	0.132	0.175	0.133	0.000	0.847
Services for companies	0.193	0.161	0.195	0.000	0.565
Public adminstration, defense, social security agencies	0.066	0.029	0.064	0.000	0.378
Education	0.040	0.023	0.041	0.000	0.562
Health care, veterinarian and social services	0.060	0.034	0.061	0.000	0.658
Other services	0.061	0.053	0.061	0.000	0.964

covariates - men West Germany								
				P-value o on differen wee	f t-test ice bet- n			
		Averages		treated and controls				
	Matched	All	Matched	before	after			
	treated	controls	controls	matching				
	0.139	0.179	0.140	0.000	0.848			
	0.080	0 1 1 4	0.081	0 000	0 788			

Fable 6 continued: Match qual	ty for covariates -	men West Germany
-------------------------------	---------------------	------------------

Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	matchi	ing
Last professional status					
Skilled worker / foreman	0.139	0.179	0.140	0.000	0.848
White-collar worker	0.080	0.114	0.081	0.000	0.788
Part-time	0.080	0.069	0.080	0.000	0.971
No job yet	0.139	0.130	0.137	0.000	0.411
Size of last establishment					
21 to 50 employees	0.147	0.135	0.148	0.000	0.849
51 to 100 employees	0.137	0.113	0.138	0.000	0.640
> 100 employees	0.296	0.282	0.296	0.000	0.814
Missing	0.030	0.039	0.028	0.000	0.344
Last monthly real wage (defined with CPI, 2000=100)					
>0 to 500 Euro	0.056	0.046	0.057	0.000	0.836
>500 to 1500 Euro	0.452	0.350	0.454	0.000	0.648
>1500 to 2000 Euro	0.196	0.226	0.197	0.000	0.840
> 2000 Euro	0.126	0.196	0.126	0.000	0.923
Time since end of last contributory job					
7 to 36 months	0.442	0.393	0.444	0.000	0.728
37 to 48 months	0.109	0.118	0.111	0.000	0.475
> 48 months	0.177	0.264	0.179	0.000	0.580
Average duration of contributory jobs between 01/2000 and 12/2004					
7 to 12 months	0 242	0 204	0 242	0.000	0 964
13 to 36 months	0 194	0.217	0.195	0.000	0.873
37 to 60 months	0.018	0.025	0.018	0.000	0.982
Number of jobs in last five years	01010	0.020	01010	01000	0.002
One or more	0.748	0.683	0.749	0.000	0.620
Minor employment, Jan. 31st 2005	0.053	0.102	0.052	0.000	0.510
Partner not empl. or iob-seeker in the last 5 years for					
1 to 12 months	0.046	0.061	0.045	0.000	0.541
13 to 12 months	0.028	0.033	0.028	0.001	0.772
25 to 60 months	0.238	0.269	0.238	0.000	0.960
Partner education					
Secondary school, with and without vocational education or GCSE					
or A-levels, vocational education or college	0.121	0.127	0.120	0.017	0.746
Missing: no partner IEB identifier	0.044	0.061	0.043	0.000	0.781
Missing partner education for other reasons	0.098	0.120	0.097	0.000	0.833

			P-value of t-test on difference bet- ween		
		Averages		treated and	controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	match	ing
Regional variables (district level)					
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	12.570	13.121	12.575	0.000	0.884
%age change in local unempl. rate in January 2005	14.367	14.907	14.318	0.000	0.665
Percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	32.099	33.759	32.128	0.000	0.759
%age change of percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	0.360	-0.050	0.413	0.000	0.570
Vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0.037	0.036	0.037	0.002	0.757
%age change vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	-7.857	-7.860	-7.834	0.991	0.980
Cities in West Germany with average labour market conditions	0.155	0.179	0.155	0.000	0.827
Cities in West Germany with above-average labour market condi-					
tions	0.054	0.051	0.055	0.063	0.803
Urban areas with average labour market cond.	0.140	0.173	0.137	0.000	0.366
Rural areas in West Germany with average LM conditions	0.214	0.187	0.215	0.000	0.781
Rural areas with below average LM conditions Rural areas in W. G. with above average LM conditions and high	0.036	0.035	0.036	0.360	0.975
seasonal dynamics	0.102	0.042	0.101	0.000	0.821
Rural areas in W. G., favourite LM cond., seasonal dynamics	0.177	0.129	0.178	0.000	0.699

## Table 6 continued: Match quality for covariates - men West Germany

				P-value of on difference	f t-test between
		Averages		treated and	controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
Age in years	liealeu	CONTIONS	controis	matorii	ng
21-24	0.154	0.060	0.148	0.000	0.276
25-35	0.226	0.263	0.227	0.000	0.884
36-40	0.151	0.158	0.155	0.060	0.422
41-45	0.169	0.155	0.170	0.000	0.868
46-50	0.118	0.128	0.121	0.005	0.581
51-57	0.107	0.170	0.107	0.000	0.962
58-62	0.007	0.032	0.005	0.000	0.338
Health					
Impairment of health	0.101	0.111	0.102	0.003	0.718
Disability	0.031	0.034	0.031	0.100	0.960
Nationality					
German with migration background	0.058	0.060	0.059	0.530	0.706
Turkish	0.030	0.072	0.028	0.000	0.440
Other foreigners	0.080	0.152	0.080	0.000	0.927
No partner	0.759	0.614	0.758	0.000	0.868
Partner and children					
Partner, not married	0.082	0.068	0.082	0.000	0.945
One child	0.213	0.208	0.216	0.313	0.581
Two children	0.109	0.127	0.111	0.000	0.568
Three and more children	0.044	0.062	0.046	0.000	0.377
Vocational training					
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.289	0.276	0.289	0.006	0.923
Secondary school, vocational education	0.244	0.192	0.245	0.000	0.823
GCSE, A-levels	0.290	0.243	0.293	0.000	0.687
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2004 to 01/2005					
7 to 12 months	0.723	0.594	0.728	0.000	0.462
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2000 to 01/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.164	0.135	0.163	0.000	0.820
7 to 18 months	0.292	0.221	0.293	0.000	0.821
19 to 30 months	0.196	0.155	0.196	0.000	0.968
31 to 36 months	0.065	0.059	0.067	0.028	0.703
37 to 48 months	0.130	0.149	0.131	0.000	0.839
Out-of-labour force during last year	0.341	0.441	0.339	0.000	0.752
Cum. dur. neither empl. nor job-seeker nor unemployment benefit					
receipt (proxy for out-of-the labour force), 01/2000 to 12/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.235	0.205	0.232	0.000	0.675
7 to 12 months	0.087	0.080	0.087	0.032	0.992
13 to 18 months	0.062	0.060	0.061	0.411	0.726
19 to 30 months	0.115	0.101	0.119	0.000	0.426
more than 30 months	0.266	0.344	0.264	0.000	0.720
Cum. dur. of UI receipt, 02/2000 to 01/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.225	0.159	0.226	0.000	0.813
7 to 12 months	0.273	0.203	0.272	0.000	0.886
> 12 months	0.087	0.085	0.087	0.601	0.984
Cum. dur. of UA receipt, 02/2004 to 01/2005					
1 to 6 months	0.176	0.111	0.176	0.000	0.930
7 to 9 months	0.088	0.064	0.088	0.000	0.943
10 to 12 months	0.363	0.313	0.365	0.000	0.821

## Table 7: Match quality for covariates - women West Germany

## Table 7 continued: Match quality for covariates - women West Germany

				P-value o	f t-test
				on difference	e between
		Averages		treated and	controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	match	ing
Cum. dur. of UA receipt. 02/2000 to 01/2004					
1 to 6 months	0.117	0.080	0.116	0.000	0.888
7 to 12 months	0.084	0.063	0.083	0.000	0.900
13 to 30 months	0 151	0 125	0 152	0.000	0.916
31 to 36 months	0.032	0.028	0.033	0.031	0.915
37 to 42 months	0.029	0.029	0.031	0.863	0.628
43 to 48 months	0.050	0.066	0.001	0.000	0.800
Ul ben, receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0.045	0.041	0.045	0.065	0.939
UA ben receipt Dec 31st 2004	0.601	0.611	0.602	0.000	0.815
Cumulated dur, of regular employment, 01/2000 to 12/2004	0.001	0.407	0.002	0.000	0.010
1 to 6 months	0 140	0 101	0 143	0.000	0 523
7 to 19 months	0.140	0.101	0.140	0.000	0.520
	0.244	0.100	0.247	0.000	0.009
25 to 42 months	0.074	0.004	0.072	0.000	0.090
23 to 42 months	0.120	0.119	0.120	0.032	0.900
43 to 60 months	0.020	0.031	0.020	0.000	0.693
interaction terms with age below 25 years	0.404	0.000	0.404	0.000	0 500
under 25, regular employment	0.104	0.033	0.101	0.000	0.520
ALMP participation in last five years (yes)	0.074	0.007	0.070	0.000	0 700
Job creation schemes	0.071	0.027	0.070	0.000	0.738
Private employment subsidy	0.045	0.031	0.046	0.000	0.862
Further vocational training	0.172	0.103	0.169	0.000	0.651
Short-term training (classroom)	0.348	0.229	0.350	0.000	0.817
Short-term training (practical)	0.092	0.043	0.091	0.000	0.876
Other short-term training	0.036	0.011	0.034	0.000	0.547
Startup subsidy	0.011	0.013	0.011	0.028	0.801
Private placement service (§37), some tasks of placement	0.060	0.042	0.058	0.000	0.739
Private placement service (§37), all tasks of placement	0.049	0.029	0.048	0.000	0.720
Other ALMP	0.097	0.058	0.097	0.000	0.898
Time since end of last ALMP					
13 to 24 months	0.147	0.087	0.148	0.000	0.854
> 24 months	0.129	0.090	0.131	0.000	0.759
ALMP during last year	0.365	0.208	0.363	0.000	0.856
Number of ALMP participations in the last five years					
One	0.275	0.229	0.278	0.000	0.619
Two or three	0.277	0.171	0.277	0.000	0.951
Four	0.051	0.024	0.051	0.000	0.906
Five and more	0.046	0.017	0.044	0.000	0.584
Industry of last contributory job					
Job with missing sector, agriculture/forestry/fishing, min- ing/energy/water supply, food and tobacco, wood, paper, publishing,					
printing, chemical industry, engineering, vehical industry	0.132	0.173	0.134	0.000	0.659
Construction	0.009	0.008	0.010	0.190	0.775
Wholesale trade and car sales	0.025	0.027	0.024	0.324	0 786
Retail trade and hotels/restaurants, transport and communication	0.131	0.133	0.131	0.499	0.976
Services for companies	0 144	0 123	0 149	0.400	0.342
Public adminstration, defense, social security agencies, education,	0.144	5.120	0.140	5.000	0.042
health care, verterinarian and social services	0.209	0.117	0.210	0.000	0.803
Other services	0.073	0.056	<u>0.0</u> 73	0.000	0.836

## Table 7 continued: Match quality for covariates - women West Germany

				P-value of	t-test
				on difference	between
		Averages		treated and	controls
Control variables	Matched	All	Matched	before	after
	treated	controls	controls	matchi	ng
Last professional status					
Skilled worker / foreman	0.041	0.038	0.042	0.134	0.867
White-collar worker	0.205	0.180	0.207	0.000	0.672
Part-time	0.225	0.213	0.225	0.013	0.884
No job vet	0.235	0.323	0.228	0.000	0.236
Size of last establishment					
21 to 50 employees	0.119	0.098	0.120	0.000	0.778
51 to 100 employees	0.122	0.091	0.122	0.000	0.947
> 100 employees	0.286	0.250	0.289	0.000	0.679
Missing	0.024	0.026	0.024	0.409	0.748
Last monthly real wage (defined with CPI. 2000=100)					
> 0 to 2000 Euro	0.655	0.538	0.661	0.000	0.381
> 2000 Euro	0.056	0.061	0.055	0.037	0.755
Time since end of last contributory iob					
7 to 36 months	0.402	0.299	0.405	0.000	0.613
>36 months	0.257	0.300	0.260	0.000	0.683
Average duration of contributory jobs between 01/2000 and 12/2004					
7 to 24 months	0 376	0 289	0 377	0.000	0 919
25 to 60 months	0.048	0.200	0.077	0.000	0.654
Number of jobs in last five years	0.040	0.002	0.040	0.000	0.004
One or two	0.563	0 455	0 571	0.000	0.301
Three or more	0.085	0.400	0.084	0.000	0.001
Minor employment Jan 31st 2005	0.082	0 147	0.082	0.000	0.895
Partner education	0.002	0.111	0.002	0.000	0.000
Secondary school no vocational education	0.065	0.096	0.066	0.000	0.742
Secondary school, vocational education	0.053	0.067	0.053	0.000	0.897
GCSE or A-levels, vocational education or college	0.022	0.034	0.022	0.000	0.929
Missing partner education	0.055	0.108	0.057	0.000	0.622
Regional variables (district level)					
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	12,750	13.211	12.746	0.000	0.960
%age change in local unempl, rate in January 2005	14.903	16.564	14.729	0.000	0.318
Percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	32.122	32.796	32.160	0.000	0.756
%age change vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	-8.278	-9.623	-8.300	0.000	0.955
Cities in West Germany with average labour market conditions	0.174	0.186	0.172	0.006	0.695
			••••=		
Cities in West Germany with above-average labour market conditions	0.061	0.051	0.061	0.000	0.908
Urban areas with average labour amrket cond.	0.140	0.173	0.138	0.000	0.617
Rural areas in West Germany with average LM conditions	0.198	0.166	0.199	0.000	0.948
Rural areas with below average LM conditions	0.039	0.034	0.038	0.013	0.614
Rural areas in W. G. with above average LM conditions and high sea-					
	0.089	0.052	0.089	0.000	0.992
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond., seasonal dynamics and					
	0.058	0.049	0.059	0.000	0.951
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond. and low LTU	0.113	0.091	0.116	0.000	0.525
Other					
Looking for part-time job	0.177	0.230	0.181	0.000	0.464

Outcome	_		-
			Matched
	All controls	Treated	controls
Employment rate			
Men, East Germany	15.9	16.1	16.4
Women, East Germany	11.3	13.4	12.4
Men, West Germany	16.8	20.7	20.1
Women, West Germany	12.9	19.5	16.9
Neither unemployed nor job-seeking rate			
Men, East Germany	24.3	20.4	23.9
Women, East Germany	21.9	18.2	22.0
Men, West Germany	31.3	28.8	32.5
Women, West Germany	32.4	29.2	32.7
No UB II receipt rate			
Men, East Germany	17.7	16.1	18.7
Women, East Germany	15.9	14.4	17.1
Men, West Germany	24.0	23.7	26.8
Women, West Germany	22.1	22.4	24.8

# Table 8:Outcomes for all controls, treatments and matched controls20 months after programme start (in percentage points)

		East Germany				West G	ermany	
	М	en	Wo	men	М	en	Wo	men
	12th month	20th month	12th month	20th month	12th month	20th month	12th month	20th month
	4 4 ***	0.0	0.4	4 0 ***	0.0.*	0.0	0.4	0 7 ***
l otal sample	-1.1 ****	-0.3	-0.4	1.0 ***	-0.6 "	0.6	-0.4	2.7
Age	0.4 ***	0.4	0.4 **	0.0	0.4 **	4 5	07 **	0.0
15-24	-2.4 ***	-0.4	-2.4 ""	-0.6	-2.1 ***	-1.5	-2.7 ***	0.9
25-35	-2.1 ***	-1.1	-1.0	1.5	-0.7	1.0	-0.3	4.3 ***
36-50	-0.5	-0.9 *	-0.3	1.1 **	-0.2	1.4 ***	0.4	3.0 ***
51-62	-0.3	0.3	0.4	1.5 **	-0.4	1.5 *	-0.1	2.2 *
Nationality								
German	-1.1 ***	-0.3	-0.7 ***	0.8 **	-0.9 ***	0.7 *	-0.3	2.2 ***
German, migrants	-2.9 *	-1.6	0.4	0.6	-1.2	-1.2	2.2	6.8 ***
Foreigners	-1.2	-0.8	-2.4 *	-0.7	-	-	-	-
former USSR	-	-	-	-	1.2	0.3	-5.1 ***	-2.6
Turkish <sup>2)</sup>	-	-	-	-	1.0	1.2	-4.0 *	1.0
other foreigners	-	-	-	-	-1.2	2.1	-1.1	2.9
Qualification								
no qualification	-1.1 **	0.3	-1.1 **	0.2	-0.9 **	0.3	-0.2	2.5 ***
apprenticeship	-1.4 ***	-0.9 *	-0.5	0.9 *	-0.7	1.7 **	-0.7	2.6 **
höherer Abschluss	-1.8	0.9	1.2	3.0 *	-4.6 ***	-0.9	0.7	4.3 **
Unemployment rate <sup>3)</sup>								
low	-1.0 **	-0.9	-0.4	0.0	-0.5	0.8	0.2	3.0 ***
intermediate1	-1.0 **	-0.3	-0.3	1.4 **	-0.7	0.3	0.8	2.0 *
intermediate2	-0.6	-0.8	-1.1 **	0.8	-1.7 ***	0.2	-0.9	1.9 *
high	-1.6 ***	-0.8	-0.1	1.2 **	-0.7	1.5 **	-0.1	3.7 ***
Last regular job in			••••					•
2004	-2.7 ***	-3.1 **	-2.8 **	-2.3	-3.6 ***	-3.0 **	-6.2 ***	-1.5
2001-2003	-1.4 **	-0.6	0.0	1.3	-0.4	1.8 ***	0.9	2.7 ***
1992-2000	-0.2	0.8 *	0.2	2.1 ***	0.3	1.7 ***	2.7 ***	5.8 ***
<1992 or never	-1.3	1.2	-0.6	0.9	0.4	0.7	0.3	3.2 ***

 Table 9:
 ATTs – regular employment rate<sup>1)</sup> (in percentage points)

1) Results from nearest neighbour matching with replacement (5 neighbours)

2) Only persons aged younger than 58 years.

<u>_</u>		East	Germany			West 0	Germany	
	M	len	Wor	nen	М	en	Wom	nen
	12th month	25th month						
Total sample	-3.6 ***	-4.0 ***	-4.4 ***	-3.2 ***	-4.2 ***	-3.3 ***	-5.4 ***	-4.5 ***
Age							••••	
15-24	-4.7 ***	-2.1 *	-10.0 ***	-2.3	-7.3 ***	-3.4 ***	-11.0 ***	-5.4 ***
25-35	-1.8 **	-2.7 ***	-5.4 ***	-1.4	-2.7 ***	-1.6 *	-3.9 ***	-3.2 **
36-50	-2.5 ***	-4.1 ***	-1.8 ***	-2.5 ***	-2.2 ***	-2.7 ***	-2.8 ***	-3.8 ***
51-62	-6.7 ***	-9.8 ***	-5.4 ***	-8.7 ***	-6.3 ***	-8.0 ***	-4.7 ***	-7.1 ***
Nationality								
German	-3.7 ***	-4.7 ***	-4.1 ***	-2.7 ***	-4.2 ***	-2.9 ***	-5.5 ***	-5.9 ***
German, migrants	-4.2 *	-7.2 **	-5.8 **	-7.3 **	-4.2 ***	-3.2 *	-3.2	1.7
Foreigner	-3.4	-2.9 ***	-9.7 ***	-10.1 ***	-	-	-	-
former USSR	-	-	-	-	-4.1 *	-6.5 **	-6.7 **	-6.4 *
Turkish	-	-	-	-	-4.4 ***	-3.6 *	-11.9 ***	-5.6
Turkish <sup>2)</sup>	-	-	-	-	-4.7 ***	-5.1 ***	-3.5	-3.8
Qualification								
no qualification	-3.6 ***	-3.6 ***	-5.8 ***	-3.7 ***	-5.2 ***	-3.8 ***	-6.3 ***	-6.5 ***
apprenticeship	-4.1 ***	-5.2 ***	-4.3 ***	-3.7 ***	-4.1 ***	-3.1 ***	-5.3 ***	-3.8 ***
higher	-8.3 ***	-7.6 ***	-2.3	-4.3 **	-6.8 ***	-6.0 **	-4.7 *	-5.9 **
Unemployment rate <sup>1)</sup>								
low	-3.9 ***	-3.8 ***	-4.7 ***	-3.1 ***	-4.2 ***	-3.5 ***	-4.0 ***	-3.3 ***
intermediate1	-5.0 ***	-5.5 ***	-5.2 ***	-4.1 ***	-4.5 ***	-4.3 ***	-6.3 ***	-5.5 ***
intermediate2	-3.5 ***	-6.0 ***	-4.8 ***	-4.8 ***	-5.1 ***	-3.7 ***	-7.4 ***	-6.2 ***
high	-3.3 ***	-4.2 ***	-3.3 ***	-2.1 ***	-4.7 ***	-3.2 ***	-4.6 ***	-5.5 ***
Last regular job in								
2004	-4.4 ***	-4.6 ***	-4.5 ***	-1.6	-5.8 ***	-5.3 ***	-7.2 ***	-5.1 ***
2001-2003	-2.4 ***	-4.1 ***	-4.2 ***	-3.8 ***	-3.0 ***	-1.8 ***	-4.0 ***	-3.9 ***
1992-2000	-3.2 ***	-4.9 ***	-3.2 ***	-3.4 ***	-3.4 ***	-4.2 ***	-2.6 **	-5.5 ***
<1992 or never	-7.5 ***	-4.6 ***	-7.8 ***	-3.9 ***	-7.3 ***	-5.2 ***	-8.9 ***	-5.9 ***

Table 10:	ATTs – neither	unemployed no	r job-seeking	(in	percentage	points)
				•		

1) Results from nearest neighbour matching with replacement (5 neighbours)

2) Only persons aged younger than 58 years.

		East G	ermany	-		West G	ermany	
	М	en	Wo	men	M	en	Wo	men
	12th month	24th month						
Total sample	-2.8 ***	-2.8 ***	-3.1 ***	-2.6 ***	-4.1 ***	-3.0 ***	-3.4 ***	-2.3 ***
Age								
15-24	-3.1 ***	-3.0 ***	-3.3 ***	-2.8 **	-6.8 ***	-4.0 ***	-4.2 ***	-2.0
25-35	-2.9 ***	-3.8 ***	-2.9 ***	-1.4	-4.6 ***	-3.3 ***	-2.5 **	-2.2 *
36-50	-2.7 ***	-3.1 ***	-3.2 ***	-2.9 ***	-2.7 ***	-2.6 ***	-3.9 ***	-3.9 ***
51-62	-2.9 ***	-3.3 ***	-4.4 ***	-3.8 ***	-3.4 ***	-0.8	-0.9	0.6
Nationality								
German	-3.0 ***	-3.1 ***	-3.2 ***	-2.7 ***	-4.0 ***	-3.1 ***	-3.6 ***	-3.3 ***
German, migrants	-2.0	-4.2 *	-4.2 **	-6.5 ***	-3.3 ***	-0.7	0.1	2.6
Foreigner	-1.3	-2.9	-4.9 ***	-4.3 *	-	-	-	-
former USSR	-	-	-	-	-3.1 *	-1.0	-2.3	5.0
Turkish <sup>2)</sup>	-	-	-	-	-4.7 ***	-4.0 **	-5.9 **	-4.6
other foreigners	-	-	-	-	-6.1 ***	-4.5 ***	-4.1 **	0.7
Qualification								
no qualification	-2.2 ***	-2.1 ***	-2.5 ***	-3.0 ***	-4.6 ***	-3.8 ***	-3.3 ***	-3.1 ***
apprenticeship	-3.2 ***	-3.4 ***	-3.8 ***	-3.5 ***	-4.0 ***	-1.9 ***	-3.4 ***	-2.1 **
higher	-5.8 ***	-5.8 ***	-3.9 **	-3.4	-5.1 **	-3.5	-4.0 *	-2.8
Unemployment rate <sup>3)</sup>								
low	-2.9 ***	-3.0 ***	-4.2 ***	-3.9 ***	-4.7 ***	-3.7 ***	-2.3 **	-0.9
intermediate1	-3.5 ***	-4.4 ***	-3.7 ***	-3.7 ***	-3.4 ***	-4.1 ***	-3.2 ***	-2.9 **
intermediate2	-2.4 ***	-4.0 ***	-3.1 ***	-3.0 ***	-4.8 ***	-3.1 ***	-3.3 ***	-2.9 **
high	-2.7 ***	-2.2 ***	-2.5 ***	-1.3 *	-4.1 ***	-1.2 *	-2.6 ***	-1.1
Last regular job in								
2004	-3.5 ***	-3.5 ***	-4.3 ***	-4.1 **	-5.9 ***	-5.1 ***	-5.4 ***	-4.8 ***
2001-2003	-2.5 ***	-2.7 ***	-2.6 ***	-3.6 ***	-3.3 ***	-2.2 ***	-2.4 ***	-1.9 **
1992-2000	-2.3 ***	-2.4 ***	-3.4 ***	-2.8 ***	-2.8 ***	-3.0 ***	-1.7 *	-1.3
<1992 or never	-3.9 ***	-3.6 ***	-2.8 ***	-2.4 **	-7.1 ***	-4.7 ***	-4.2 ***	-2.9 **

Table 11:	ATTs – no UB II	receipt (in	percentage points)

1) Results from nearest neighbour matching with replacement (5 neighbours)

2) Only persons aged younger than 58 years.



Figure 1: Distribution of the propensity score – East Germany

Figure 2: Distribution of the propensity score – West Germany







## **Recently published**

No.	Author(s)	Title	Date
<u>1/2004</u>	Bauer, T. K. Bender, S. Bonin, H.	Dismissal protection and worker flows in small establish- ments published in: Economica, Vol. 74, No. 296 (2007), S. 804-821	7/04
<u>2/2004</u>	Achatz, J. Gartner, H. Glück, T.	Bonus oder Bias? : Mechanismen geschlechtsspezifischer Entlohnung published in: Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsy- chologie 57 (2005), S. 466-493 (revised)	7/04
<u>3/2004</u>	Andrews, M. Schank, T. Upward, R.	Practical estimation methods for linked employer-employee data	8/04
<u>4/2004</u>	Brixy, U. Kohaut, S. Schnabel, C.	Do newly founded firms pay lower wages? : first evidence from Germany published in: Small Business Economics, (2007)	9/04
<u>5/2004</u>	Kölling, A. Rässler, S.	Editing and multiply imputing German establishment panel data to estimate stochastic production frontier models <u>published in: Zeitschrift für ArbeitsmarktForschung 37 (2004),</u> <u>S. 306-318</u>	10/04
<u>6/2004</u>	Stephan, G. Gerlach, K.	Collective contracts, wages and wage dispersion in a multi- level model <u>published as: Wage settlements and wage setting : results</u> from a multi-level model. In: Applied Economics, Vol. 37, No. <u>20 (2005), S. 2297-2306</u>	10/04
<u>7/2004</u>	Gartner, H. Stephan, G.	How collective contracts and works councils reduce the gen- der wage gap	12/04
<u>1/2005</u>	Blien, U. Suedekum, J.	Local economic structure and industry development in Ger- many, 1993-2001 <u>published in: Economics Bulletin, Vol. 15, No. 17 (2005), S. 1-</u> <u>8</u>	1/05
<u>2/2005</u>	Brixy, U. Kohaut, S. Schnabel, C.	How fast do newly founded firms mature? : empirical analy- ses on job quality in start-ups <u>published in: Michael Fritsch, Jürgen Schmude (Ed.): Entre-</u> preneurship in the region, New York et al., 2006, S. 95-112	1/05
<u>3/2005</u>	Lechner, M. Miquel, R. Wunsch, C.	Long-run effects of public sector sponsored training in West Germany	1/05
<u>4/2005</u>	Hinz, T. Gartner, H.	Lohnunterschiede zwischen Frauen und Männern in Bran- chen, Berufen und Betrieben published in: Zeitschrift für Soziologie 34 (2005), S. 22-39, as: Geschlechtsspezifische Lohnunterschiede in Branchen, Berufen und Betrieben	2/05
<u>5/2005</u>	Gartner, H. Rässler, S.	Analyzing the changing gender wage gap based on multiply imputed right censored wages	2/05
<u>6/2005</u>	Alda, H. Bender, S. Gartner, H.	The linked employer-employee dataset of the IAB (LIAB) published as: The linked employer-employee dataset created from the IAB establishment panel and the process-produced data of the IAB (LIAB). In: Schmollers Jahrbuch. Zeitschrift für Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften 125 (2005), S. 327- 336 (shortened)	3/05
<u>7/2005</u>	Haas, A. Rothe, T.	Labour market dynamics from a regional perspective : the multi-account system	4/05

<u>8/2005</u>	Caliendo, M. Hujer, R. Thomsen, S. L.	Identifying effect heterogeneity to improve the efficiency of job creation schemes in Germany	4/05
<u>9/2005</u>	Gerlach, K. Stephan, G.	Wage distributions by wage-setting regime <u>published as: Bargaining regimes and wage dispersion. In:</u> <u>Jahrbücher für Nationalökonomie und Statistik, Bd. 226, H. 6</u> (2006)	4/05
<u>10/2005</u>	Gerlach, K. Stephan, G.	Individual tenure and collective contracts	4/05
<u>11/2005</u>	Blien, U. Hirschenauer, F.	Formula allocation : the regional allocation of budgetary funds for measures of active labour market policy in Germany <u>published in: Economics Bulletin, Vol. 18, no. 7 (2006)</u>	4/05
<u>12/2005</u>	Alda, H. Allaart, P. Bellmann, L.	Churning and institutions : Dutch and German establishments compared with micro-level data	5/05
<u>13/2005</u>	Caliendo, M. Hujer, R. Thomsen, S. L.	Individual employment effects of job creation schemes in Germany with respect to sectoral heterogeneity	5/05
<u>14/2005</u>	Lechner, M. Miquel, R. Wunsch, C.	The curse and blessing of training the unemployed in a chan- ging economy : the case of East Germany after unification <u>published in: German Economic Review, Vol. 8, No. 4 (2007),</u> <u>S. 468-509</u>	6/05
<u>15/2005</u>	Jensen, U. Rässler, S.	Where have all the data gone? : stochastic production fron- tiers with multiply imputed German establishment data <u>published in: Zeitschrift für ArbeitsmarktForschung, Jg. 39, H.</u> <u>2, 2006, S. 277-295</u>	7/05
<u>16/2005</u>	Schnabel, C. Zagelmeyer, S. Kohaut, S.	Collective bargaining structure and its determinants : an em- pirical analysis with British and German establishment data <u>published in: European Journal of Industrial Relations, Vol.</u> <u>12, No. 2. S. 165-188</u>	8/05
<u>17/2005</u>	Koch, S. Stephan, G. Walwei, U.	Workfare: Möglichkeiten und Grenzen <u>published in: Zeitschrift für ArbeitsmarktForschung 38 (2005),</u> <u>S. 419-440</u>	8/05
<u>18/2005</u>	Alda, H. Bellmann, L. Gartner, H.	Wage structure and labour mobility in the West German private sector 1993-2000	8/05
<u>19/2005</u>	Eichhorst, W. Konle-Seidl, R.	The interaction of labor market regulation and labor market policies in welfare state reform	9/05
<u>20/2005</u>	Gerlach, K. Stephan, G.	Tarifverträge und betriebliche Entlohnungsstrukturen published in: C. Clemens, M. Heinemann & S. Soretz (Hg.): Auf allen Märkten zu Hause, Marburg 2006, S. 123-143	11/05
<u>21/2005</u>	Fitzenberger, B. Speckesser, S.	Employment effects of the provision of specific professional skills and techniques in Germany published in: Empirical Economics, Vol. 32, No. 2/3 (2007), S. 529-573	11/05
<u>22/2005</u>	Ludsteck, J. Jacobebbinghaus, P.	Strike activity and centralisation in wage setting	12/05
<u>1/2006</u>	Gerlach, K. Levine, D. Stephan, G. Struck, O.	The acceptability of layoffs and pay cuts : comparing North America with Germany	1/06
<u>2/2006</u>	Ludsteck, J.	Employment effects of centralization in wage setting in a me- dian voter model	2/06
<u>3/2006</u>	Gaggermeier, C.	Pension and children : Pareto improvement with heterogene- ous preferences	2/06

6	$\mathbf{r}$
o	L

<u>4/2006</u>	Binder, J. Schwengler, B.	Korrekturverfahren zur Berechnung der Einkommen über der Beitragsbemessungsgrenze	3/06
<u>5/2006</u>	Brixy, U. Grotz, R.	Regional patterns and determinants of new firm formation and survival in western Germany	4/06
<u>6/2006</u>	Blien, U. Sanner, H.	Structural change and regional employment dynamics	4/06
<u>7/2006</u>	Stephan, G. Rässler, S. Schewe, T.	Wirkungsanalyse in der Bundesagentur für Arbeit : Konzepti- on, Datenbasis und ausgewählte Befunde <u>published as: Das TrEffeR-Projekt der Bundesagentur für</u> <u>Arbeit : die Wirkung von Maßnahmen aktiver Arbeitsmarktpo- litik. In: Zeitschrift für ArbeitsmarktForschung, Jg. 39, H. 3/4</u> (2006)	4/06
<u>8/2006</u>	Gash, V. Mertens, A. Romeu Gordo, L.	Are fixed-term jobs bad for your health? : a comparison of West-Germany and Spain <u>published in: European Societies, Vol. 9, No. 3 (2007), S.</u> <u>429-458</u>	5/06
<u>9/2006</u>	Romeu Gordo, L.	Compression of morbidity and the labor supply of older people	5/06
<u>10/2006</u>	Jahn, E. J. Wagner, T.	Base period, qualifying period and the equilibrium rate of unemployment	6/06
<u>11/2006</u>	Jensen, U. Gartner, H. Rässler, S.	Measuring overeducation with earnings frontiers and multiply imputed censored income data	6/06
<u>12/2006</u>	Meyer, B. Lutz, C. Schnur, P. Zika, G.	National economic policy simulations with global interde- pendencies : a sensitivity analysis for Germany <u>published in: Economic systems research, Vol. 19, No. 1</u> (2007), S. 37-55	7/06
<u>13/2006</u>	Beblo, M. Bender, S. Wolf, E.	The wage effects of entering motherhood : a within-firm mat- ching approach	8/06
<u>14/2006</u>	Niebuhr, A.	Migration and innovation : does cultural diversity matter for regional R&D activity?	8/06
<u>15/2006</u>	Kiesl, H. Rässler, S.	How valid can data fusion be? published in: Journal of Official Statistics, (2006)	8/06
<u>16/2006</u>	Hujer, R. Zeiss, C.	The effects of job creation schemes on the unemployment duration in East Germany	8/06
<u>17/2006</u>	Fitzenberger, B. Osikominu, A. Völter, R.	Get training or wait? : long-run employment effects of training programs for the unemployed in West Germany	9/06
<u>18/2006</u>	Antoni, M. Jahn, E. J.	Do changes in regulation affect employment duration in tem- porary work agencies?	9/06
<u>19/2006</u>	Fuchs, J. Söhnlein, D.	Effekte alternativer Annahmen auf die prognostizierte Er- werbsbevölkerung	10/06
<u>20/2006</u>	Lechner, M. Wunsch, C.	Active labour market policy in East Germany : waiting for the economy to take off	11/06
<u>21/2006</u>	Kruppe, T.	Die Förderung beruflicher Weiterbildung : eine mikroökono- metrische Evaluation der Ergänzung durch das ESF-BA- Programm	11/06
<u>22/2006</u>	Feil, M. Klinger, S. Zika, G.	Sozialabgaben und Beschäftigung : Simulationen mit drei makroökonomischen Modellen	11/06
<u>23/2006</u>	Blien, U. Phan, t. H. V.	A pilot study on the Vietnamese labour market and its social and economic context	11/06

<u>24/2006</u>	Lutz, R.	Was spricht eigentlich gegen eine private Arbeitslosenversi- cherung? published in: Zeitschrift für die gesamte Versicherungswis-	11/06
		<u>senschaft, Jg. 96, H. 2 (2007), S. 169-208</u>	
<u>25/2006</u>	Jirjahn, U. Pfeifer, C. Tsertsvadze, G.	Mikroökonomische Beschäftigungseffekte des Hamburger Modells zur Beschäftigungsförderung	11/06
<u>26/2006</u>	Rudolph, H.	Indikator gesteuerte Verteilung von Eingliederungsmitteln im SGB II : Erfolgs- und Effizienzkriterien als Leistungsanreiz?	12/06
<u>27/2006</u>	Wolff, J.	How does experience and job mobility determine wage gain in a transition and a non-transition economy? : the case of east and west Germany	12/06
<u>28/2006</u>	Blien, U. Kirchhof, K. Ludewig, O.	Agglomeration effects on labour demand	12/06
<u>29/2006</u>	Blien, U. Hirschenauer, F. Phan, t. H. V.	Model-based classification of regional labour markets : for purposes of labour market policy	12/06
<u>30/2006</u>	Krug, G.	Kombilohn und Reziprozität in Beschäftigungsverhältnissen : eine Analyse im Rahmen des Matching-Ansatzes	12/06
<u>1/2007</u>	Moritz, M. Gröger, M.	The German-Czech border region after the fall of the Iron Curtain: Effects on the labour market : an empirical study using the IAB Employment Sample (IABS)	1/07
<u>2/2007</u>	Hampel, K. Kunz, M. Schanne, N. Wapler, R. Weyh, A.	Regional employment forecasts with spatial interdependencies	1/07
<u>3/2007</u>	Eckey, H F. Schwengler, B. Türck, M.	Vergleich von deutschen Arbeitsmarktregionen	1/07
<u>4/2007</u>	Kristen, C. Granato, N.	The educational attainment of the second generation in Ger- many : social origins and ethnic inequality published in: Ethnicities, Vol. 7, No. 3 (2007), S. 343-366	1/07
<u>5/2007</u>	Jacob, M. Kleinert, C.	Does unemployment help or hinder becoming independent? : the role of employment status for leaving the parental home published in: European Sociological Review, (2008)	1/07
<u>6/2007</u>	Konle-Seidl, R. Eichhorst, W. Grienberger- Zingerle, M.	Activation policies in Germany : from status protection to ba- sic income support	1/07
<u>7/2007</u>	Lechner, M. Wunsch, C.	Are training programs more effective when unemployment is high?	2/07
<u>8/2007</u>	Hohendanner, C.	Verdrängen Ein-Euro-Jobs sozialversicherungspflichtige Be- schäftigung in den Betrieben?	2/07
<u>9/2007</u>	Seibert, H.	Frühe Flexibilisierung? : regionale Mobilität nach der Lehr- ausbildung in Deutschland zwischen 1977 und 2004	2/07
<u>10/2007</u>	Bernhard, S. Kurz, K.	Familie und Arbeitsmarkt : eine Längsschnittstudie zum Ein- fluss beruflicher Unsicherheiten auf die Familienerweiterung	2/07
<u>11/2007</u>	Drechsler, J. Dundler, A. Bender, S. Rässler, S. Zwick, T.	A new approach for disclosure control in the IAB Establish- ment Panel : multiple imputation for a better data access	2/07

<u>12/2007</u>	Fuchs, J. Söhnlein, D.	Einflussfaktoren auf das Erwerbspersonenpotenzial : Demo- grafie und Erwerbsverhalten in Ost- und Westdeutschland	3/07
<u>13/2007</u>	Hartmann, J. Krug, G.	Verknüpfung von Befragungs- und Prozessdaten : Selektivität durch fehlende Zustimmung der Befragten?	3/07
<u>14/2007</u>	Baltagi, B. H. Blien, U. Wolf, K.	Phillips Curve or wage curve? : evidence from West Germa- ny: 1980-2004	4/07
<u>15/2007</u>	Blien, U. Gartner, H. Stüber, H. Wolf, K.	Expensive and low-price places to live : regional price levels and the agglomeration wage differential in Western Germany	4/07
<u>16/2007</u>	Jaenichen, U. Stephan, G.	The effectiveness of targeted wage subsidies for hard-to- place workers	6/07
<u>17/2007</u>	Fuchs, J. Weber, B.	Vollbeschäftigungsannahme und Stille Reserve : eine Sensi- tivitätsanalyse für Westdeutschland	6/07
<u>18/2007</u>	Haas, A. Damelang, A.	Labour market entry of migrants in Germany : does cultural diversity matter?	6/07
<u>19/2007</u>	Wachter, T. von Bender, S.	Do initial conditions persist between firms? : an analysis of firm-entry cohort effects and job losers using matched employer-employee data	6/07
<u>20/2007</u>	Reiter, J. P. Drechsler, J.	Releasing multiply-imputed synthetic data generated in two stages to protect confidentiality	6/07
<u>21/2007</u>	Damelang, A.	Räumliche Mobilität von türkischen Arbeitnehmern : eine Analyse mit der IAB-Beschäftigtenstichprobe 2001	7/07
<u>22/2007</u>	Pfeifer, C.	Homogene und heterogene Teilnahmeeffekte des Hamburger Kombilohnmodells : ein Verfahrensvergleich von Propensity Score Matching und OLS-Regression	7/07
<u>23/2007</u>	Bender, S. Koch, S. Meßmann, S. Walwei, U.	Was muten sich Arbeitslose zu? : Lohnkonzessionen von ALG-II-Empfängern	7/07
<u>24/2007</u>	Bruckmeier, K. Schnitzlein, D.	Was wurde aus den Arbeitslosenhilfeempfängern? : eine empirische Analyse des Übergangs und Verbleibs von Ar- beitslosenhilfeempfängern nach der Hartz-IV-Reform	9/07
<u>25/2007</u>	Büttner, T.	Ankündigungseffekt oder Maßnahmewirkung? : eine Evalua- tion von Trainingsmaßnahmen zur Überprüfung der Verfüg- barkeit	10/07
<u>26/2007</u>	Brücker, H. Defoort, C.	Inequality and the (self-)selection of international migrants : theory and novel evidence	10/07
<u>27/2007</u>	Brücker, H. Schröder, P. J. H.	International migration with heterogeneous agents : theory and evidence	10/07
<u>28/2007</u>	Krug, G.	In-work benefits for low wage jobs : can additional income hinder labor market integration?	11/07
<u>29/2007</u>	Wolff, J. Jozwiak, E.	Does short-term training activate means-tested unemploy- ment benefit recipients in Germany?	11/07
<u>30/2007</u>	König, M. Möller, J.	Mindestlohneffekte des Entsendegesetzes? : eine Mikroda- tenanalyse für die deutsche Bauwirtschaft	11/07
<u>31/2007</u>	Burkert, C. Seibert, H.	Labour market outcomes after vocational training in Germany – equal opportunities for migrants and natives?	12/07

#### Imprint

IABDiscussionPaper No. 32 / 2007

Editorial address Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit Regensburger Straße 104 D-90478 Nürnberg

Editorial staff Regina Stoll, Jutta Palm-Nowak

Technical completion Jutta Sebald **All rights reserved** Reproduction and distribution in any form, also in parts, requires the permission of IAB Nürnberg

Download of this DiscussionPaper: http://doku.iab.de/discussionpapers/2007/dp3207.pdf

Website http://www.iab.de

**For further inquiries contact the author:** Katrin Hohmeyer, phone: 0911/179-5170, or e-mail: <u>katrin.hohmeyer@iab.de</u> Joachim Wolff, phone: 0911/179-1248 or e-mail: <u>joachim.wolff@iab.de</u>